Pediatric Graduate School Hospital for Children and Adolescents University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

BONE HEALTH IN CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS WITH JUVENILE IDIOPATHIC ARTHRITIS AND SOLID ORGAN TRANSPLANT

Helena Valta

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Helsinki, for public examination in the Niilo Hallman Auditorium, Hospital for Children and Adolescents, on September 25, 2009, at 12 noon.

Helsinki 2009

SUPERVISORS

Docent Outi Mäkitie Department of Pediatric Endocrinology and Metabolic Bone Diseases Hospital for Children and Adolescents University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland Professor Hannu Jalanko Department of Pediatric Nephrology and Transplantation Hospital for Children and Adolescents University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

REVIEWERS

Docent Marja Ala-Houhala Department of Pediatrics Tampere University Hospital Tampere, Finland Professor Matti J Välimäki Division of Endocrinology Department of Medicine Helsinki University Central Hospital Helsinki, Finland

OPPONENT

Professor Ilkka Pörsti Medical School Internal Medicine University of Tampere and Department of Internal Medicine Tampere University Hospital Tampere, Finland

ISBN 978-952-92-5952-6 (paperback) ISBN 978-952-10-5683-3 (PDF) Helsinki University Print

To my family

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	. 6
LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	. 8
ABBREVIATIONS	9
1. INTRODUCTION	. 10
2. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	. 11
2.1 Bone structure	11
2.2 Bone cells	12
2.2.1 Osteoblasts	. 12
2.2.2 Osteocytes	12
2.2.3 Osteoclasts	. 12
2.3 Bone modeling and remodeling	. 13
2.3.1 Modeling	. 13
2.3.2 Remodeling	. 14
2.3.3 OPG/RANKL/RANK system	15
2.4 Bone mass accrual in childhood and adolescence	. 16
2.5 Regulators of bone mass	. 17
2.5.1 Calcium	. 17
2.5.2 Vitamin D	18
2.5.3 Physical activity	21
2.5.4 Estrogen, testosterone, and growth hormone	21
2.5.5 Parathyroid hormone	22
2.6 Osteoporosis	23
2.6.1 Definition of osteoporosis	. 23
2.6.2 Classification of osteoporosis	. 24
2.7 Juvenile idiopathic arthritis and bone health	26
2.8 Bone health in patients with a history of solid organ transplantation	. 26
2.9 Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry	. 27
2.10 Skeletal effects of immunosuppressive drugs	. 30
2.10.1 Glucocorticoids	.30
2.10.2 Other Immunosuppressive drugs	. 33
3. AIMS OF THE STUDY	. 34
4. MATERIALS AND METHODS	. 35
4.1 Patients and controls	. 35
4.1.1 Inclusion criteria for patients	. 35
4.1.2 Treatment of patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis	. 36
4.1.3 Immunosuppressive medication after transplantation	36

4.2 Methods	. 37
4.2.1 Study design and data collection	. 37
4.2.2 Growth assessment	. 38
4.2.3 Biochemistry	. 38
4.2.4 Imaging studies	. 38
4.2.4.1 Bone mineral density measurement	. 38
4.2.4.2 Radiographic evaluation	39
4.3 Ethical considerations	40
4.4 Statistics	40
5. RESULTS	. 41
5.1 Biochemistry	44
5.2 Fractures	45
5.2.1 Nonvertebral fractures	. 45
5.2.2 Vertebral fractures	46
5.3 Bone mineral density	50
5.3.1 Retrospective analysis of bone mineral density development	. 50
5.3.2 Cross-sectional analysis	. 51
5.3.3 Prospective analysis	. 52
5.4 Determinants of bone mineral density	. 52
5.4.1 Age and duration of dialysis treatment	. 52
5.4.2 Renal function	53
5.4.3 Vitamin D and parathyroid hormone	. 53
5.4.4 Medication	. 53
5.4.5 Predictors for low bone mineral density in logistic	
regression analyses	. 54
6. DISCUSSION	55
6.1 Bone health characteristics in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis	55
6.2 Bone health after solid organ transplantation	57
6.3 Bone health in children and adolescents after liver transplantation	58
6.4 Bone health in children and adolescents after renal transplantation	60
6.5 Juvenile idiopathic arthritis or solid organ transplantation and vitamin D	. 62
6.6 Limitations of the study	. 63
6.7 Future considerations	64
	65
	. 05
8. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	. 66
9. REFERENCES	68

ABSTRACT

Osteoporosis is a skeletal disorder characterized by compromised bone strength that predisposes to increased risk for fractures. Peak bone mass is an important determinant of adult bone health and lifetime risk for fractures. Peak bone mass is mostly acquired by the age of 18 years, and therefore, childhood and adolescence are critical periods for bone mass gain. Long-lasting childhood disease may reduce the rate and/or magnitude of skeletal mass accrual; medications, especially glucocorticoids (GCs), chronic inflammation, decreased physical activity, hormonal deficiencies, delayed puberty, and poor nutrition may predispose these children and adolescents to impaired bone health. The improved long-term outcome of severe childhood diseases has increased the number of young patients at risk of skeletal complications.

In this work, we studied overall bone health and the incidence and prevalence of fractures in children and adolescents treated for juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) or who had undergone solid organ transplantation (Tx). The clinical and treatment-related factors that predispose these patients to impaired bone health were assessed. The role of especially GCs and vitamin D in this process was evaluated.

The first study cohort included 62 patients diagnosed with JIA at least two years prior to the study and treated with GCs. The epidemiology of fractures after Tx was investigated in 196 patients and a more detailed analysis of bone health determinants was performed on 40 liver (LTx) and 106 renal transplantation (RTx) patients. Clinical, biochemical, and treatment-related factors were evaluated. Bone mineral density (BMD) and vertebral morphology were assessed by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry. Standard radiographs were obtained to detect vertebral fractures and to determine bone age; BMD values were adjusted for skeletal maturity.

Median BMD values were subnormal in all patient cohorts. The values were highest in patients with JIA (median for lumbar spine BMD Z-score -0.4) and lowest in patients with LTx (median Z-score -1.2). Age at transplantation influenced BMD values in LTx but not RTx patients; BMD values were higher in patients who had LTx before the age of two years, while no difference was found in patients who had RTx before the age of two years and in those diagnosed at an older age. Further, BMD was lowest immediately after Tx, but tended to improve during follow-up despite long-term immunosuppressive medication. BMD Z-score decreased by ≥ 0.7 SD in 80% of LTx patients during puberty, and was significantly subnormal (mean LS Z-score -1.9) in all LTx patients at completion of puberty. However, the median BMD Z-scores increased in male RTx subjects, while in females the trend was to decrease. The prevalence of vertebral fractures ranged from 10% to 19% in the cohorts. Most of the fractures were

asymptomatic and diagnosed only at screening. The prevalence of vertebral fractures was highest in adolescent LTx patients, and patients with fractures were older at the time of Tx (p = 0.002) and had more recently received the transplant (p = 0.019).

Vitamin D deficiency was common in all patient groups, and despite vitamin D substitution, only one-fourth of RTx and LTx patients achieved the target serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentration of 80 nmol/L. Several potential risk factors for compromised bone health were identified in the cohorts, such as age of the patient at onset of JIA or Tx, time since Tx or JIA diagnosis, immunosuppressive drugs, and vitamin D and parathyroid hormone concentrations. However, none of these factors alone could be regarded as the main determinant of BMD or fractures. The total cumulative weight-adjusted dose of GC was not associated with BMD values in JIA or LTx patients. The combination of female gender and age over 15 years, parathyroid hormone concentration over 100 ng/L, and cumulative weight-adjusted methylprednisolone dose over 150 mg/kg during the three preceding years were found to be important predictors for low lumbar spine BMD in RTx patients.

Our study showed that impaired bone health, manifested as low BMD and increased fracture rate, is an important health concern in children with JIA, especially after solid organ transplantation. Special attention should be directed to preventive measures during the immediate posttransplantation years and during adolescence since the skeleton seems to be most vulnerable during these times. Vertebral fractures were common but often asymptomatic. As vertebral fractures are a sign of compromised bone quality, they should be actively screened and detected early. More attention should be paid to adequate calcium and vitamin D substitution in patients with JIA and after Tx. Careful follow-up is required to ensure optimal bone mass gain also in these children and adolescents. Further studies are warranted to evaluate optimal preventive measures and treatment modalities in pediatric patients with impaired bone health.

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original articles referred to in the text by Roman numerals I-IV:

- Valta H, Lahdenne P, Jalanko H, Aalto K, Mäkitie O. Bone health and growth in glucocorticoid-treated patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis.
 J Reumatol. 2007; 34:831-836.
- Helenius I, Remes V, Salminen S, Valta H, Mäkitie O, Holmberg C, Palmu P, Tervahartiala P, Sarna S, Helenius M, Peltonen J, Jalanko H. Incidence and predictors of fractures in children after solid organ transplantation: a 5-year prospective, population-based study. J Bone Miner Res. 2006; 21:380-387.
- III Valta H, Jalanko H, Holmberg C, Helenius I, Mäkitie O. Impaired bone health in adolescents after liver transplantation.
 Am J Transplant. 2008; 8:150-157.
- IV Valta H, Mäkitie O, Rönnholm K, Jalanko H. Bone health in children and adolescents after renal transplantation.J Bone Miner Res. 2009, May 6 (Epub ahead of print).

These articles were reprinted with the kind permission of their copyright holders. Some previously unpublished data are also presented.

ABBREVIATIONS

1,25(OH)_D	1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D, calcitriol
24,25(OH)_D	24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D
25-OH-D	25-hydroxyvitamin D, calcidiol
aBMD	Areal bone mineral density
Aza	Azathioprine
BMC	Bone mineral content
BMD	Bone mineral density
BMI	Body mass index
CHAQ	Childhood Health Assessment Questionnaire
CKD	Chronic kidney disease
CsA	Cyclosporine Å
D,	Ergocalciferol
	Cholecalciferol
DXA	Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry
FK506	Tacrolimus
GC	Glucocorticoid
GFR	Glomerular filtration rate
GH	Growth hormone
HTx	Heart transplantation
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth factor 1
ILAR	International League of Associations for Rheumatology
IVA	Instant vertebral assessment
JIA	Juvenile idiopathic arthritis
LRP5	Low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein
LS	Lumbar spine
LTM	Lean tissue mass
LTx	Liver transplantation
MMF	Mycophenolate mofetil
MP	Methylprednisolone
MTX	Methotrexate
NIH	National Institutes of Health
OI	Osteogenesis imperfecta
OPG	Osteoprotegerin
PBM	Peak bone mass
PTH	Parathyroid hormone
RANK	Receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa B
RANKL	Receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa B ligand
RTx	Renal transplantation
SD	Standard deviation
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
Tx	Transplantation
VFA	Vertebral fracture assessment
VFx	Vertebral fracture
WHO	The World Health Organization

1. INTRODUCTION

The basis of life-long bone health is formed in childhood and adolescence. In healthy children, bone mass increases during the two first decades of life, and a rapid increase in bone mass gain occurs during puberty (Bonjour et al. 1991, Kröger et al. 1993). An estimated 90% of peak bone mass (PBM) is acquired by the age of 18 years, and PBM is an important determinant of adult bone health (Bailey et al. 1999, Heaney et al. 2000). Chronic disease in childhood may interfere with bone mass accrual, and genetically predetermined PBM might not be achieved. Inflammation, hormonal disturbances, delayed pubertal maturation, medications, especially glucocorticoids (GCs), impaired physical activity, and nutritional problems may predispose a child or adolescent to impaired bone health (Sochett and Mäkitie 2005, Bianchi 2007).

Juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) is the most commonly diagnosed rheumatic disease in children. The annual incidence of JIA in Finland is approximately 21 per 100 000 children, and the prevalence in Scandinavia has been estimated to be 1 per 1000 children (Gare and Fasth 1992, Moe and Rygg 1998, Berntson et al. 2003). Solid organ transplantation (Tx) has become a successful treatment modality for children and adolescents with end-stage renal disease, terminal liver failure, metabolic disease, malignancy, and treatment-resistant heart failure. Outcomes of Tx have clearly improved during the last 20 years due to better surgical techniques, advanced intensive care treatment, and developments in immunosuppressive therapy. The number of children and adolescents living with a graft is increasing. By February 2009, a total of 204 kidney, 96 liver, and 59 heart transplantations had been performed in Finland on patients aged under 18 years.

Low bone mineral density (BMD) and fragility fractures are serious long-term complications associated with JIA (Varonos et al. 1987, Lien et al. 2003, Burnham et al. 2006a). The underlying renal or liver disease prior to Tx may itself have negative effects on the skeleton such that osteoporosis and fractures may be detected already at the time of Tx. Postoperatively, a further decline in BMD values has been reported (Feber et al. 1994, Guthery et al. 2003, Hardinger et al. 2003, Gasser 2008, Rodriguez-Garcia et al. 2009).

Preliminary data in children and adolescents with JIA or a history of Tx suggest that these patients may be prone to impaired bone health and fractures. However, the prevalence and characteristics of impaired bone health as well as the contributing risk factors remain largely unknown. We therefore carried out this study to evaluate bone health characteristics and to determine specific risk factors for skeletal problems in patients with GC-treated JIA or solid organ Tx during childhood or adolescence.

2. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

2.1 Bone structure

The skeleton, composed of bone and cartilage, gives mechanical support to the body and together with muscles, tendons, and joints facilitates locomotion. It also protects vital internal organs and bone marrow from potentially harmful exogenous effects. The skeleton serves as a storage site for calcium, phosphate, and magnesium, and a buffering site for excess hydrogen ions (Demster 2006).

Macroscopically, bone can be divided into two subtypes. Cortical or compact bone constitutes about 80% of the total skeleton and is mainly found in the diaphyseal parts of long bones. About 20% of the skeleton is trabecular bone, also called cancellous or spongy bone. This bone type is predominantly present in flat bones, vertebrae, and the metaphyseal and epiphyseal segments of long bones. The ratio of cortical and trabecular bone is 25:75 in the vertebrae and 95:5 in the radial diaphysis (Clarke 2008). These bone types differ in metabolic activity. Trabecular bone is metabolically more active so that 25% of it is replaced annually, in contrast to only 2-5% of cortical bone. Cortical bone is very compact and mostly calcified, and its main function is mechanical and protective (Demster 2006).

Bone is composed of mineral (50-70%), organic components (20-40%), water (5-10%), and lipids (<3%). Hydroxyapatite comprises 95% of the mineral component, and the remainder consists mostly of calcium carbonate, magnesium, and citrate. The organic matrix is mainly composed of type 1 collagen (90%), with the remaining 10% consisting of noncollagenous proteins such as glycoproteins, osteocalcin, osteonectin, sialoprotein, osteopontin, and various proteoglycans. Only 2% of the organic component of bone is composed of bone cells responsible for bone formation, resorption, and maintenance of the remodeling process (Demster 2006, Clarke 2008).

2.2. Bone cells

2.2.1 Osteoblasts

Osteoblasts are derived from bone marrow stromal cells or connective tissue mesenchymal cells that differentiate first into preosteoblasts and further into mature osteoblasts (Figure 1A). They are responsible for bone formation and synthesize and secrete collagen and matrix proteins. Cytokines and many hormones regulate their activity. The osteoblasts synthesize osteoid, the organic bone matrix, and later take care of its mineralization. Their cytoplasms contain large amounts of alkaline phosphatase. Osteoblast lineage cells secrete osteoprotegerin (OPG), an inhibitor of osteoclastogenesis, and have receptors for receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa B ligand (RANKL), 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D [1,25(OH)₂D], and parathyroid hormone (PTH), all of which can promote osteoclast activity and bone turnover. At the end of the secreting period, osteoblasts become calcified and lay in bone lacunae. Approximately 10-15% of osteoblasts are transformed later to osteocytes. Osteoblasts have traditionally been thought to be the main target of PTH action in the skeleton (Harada and Rodan 2003, Aubin 2006).

2.2.2 Osteocytes

Osteocytes are transformed from osteoblasts and account for over 90-95% of all bone cells in the skeleton (Figure 1A). They are thought to respond to mechanical strain and transmit signals of bone formation and resorption (Bonewald and Johnson 2008). Osteocytes are found throughout the mineralized matrix, especially in cortical bone, but also in the trabecular bone. They are connected to each other and to surface osteoblasts via dendritic processes (Kamioka et al. 2001). Unlike osteoblasts and osteoclasts, both of which have one specific function, osteocytes appear to be multifunctional. Remodeling is also suggested to be controlled by signals mediated by osteocytes, and osteocytes play an important role in the repair of bone microdamages. Empty lacunae are observed in aging bone, and osteocytes are proposed to undergo apoptosis; bone loss may be partly due to osteocyte cell death (Bonewald 2004).

2.2.3 Osteoclasts

Osteoclasts are derived from hematopoietic monocyte/macrophage precursor cells in the bone marrow and are responsible for bone resorption (Figure 1B). Cytokines, RANKL, and macrophage colony-stimulating factor are essential for basal osteoclastogenesis.

Monocytes circulate in blood and are attracted to the bone surface where they fuse to form osteoclasts. Osteoclasts secrete large quantities of matrix metal-loproteinases and cathepsins, which are crucial for the removal of the bone's organic matrix. Degradation products, such as collagen fragments, inorganic phosphate, and calcium, are processed within the osteoclasts and then released into the circulation (Teitelbaum 2000, Boyle et al. 2003).



Figure 1. Origin of osteoblasts, osteocytes (A), and osteoclasts (B).

2.3 Bone modeling and remodeling

The shape and structure of bones are continuously modified and revised by two separate processes: modeling and remodeling.

2.3.1 Modeling

Modeling refers to a process in which bones change their overall shape by the independent actions of osteoblasts and osteoclasts in response to physiological stimuli or mechanical forces. This process maintains the normal shape of the tubular bones and results in an increase of the bone circumference during growth in children and adolescents. However, it occurs also in adults in response to mechanical loads, to change the shape of the bone. In the modeling process, bone formation is independent of preceding bone resorption; osteoblasts are continuously active during the process, and therefore, rapid increases in the amount of bone tissue are possible. Osteoclasts remove less bone than is formed by osteoblasts, and this leads to a net increase in the amount of bone tissue (Demster 2006, Boyce and Xing 2008, Clarke 2008).

2.3.2 Remodeling

Bone remodeling is a lifelong process consisting of successive cycles of bone resorption and formation that renew the bone while maintaining its structure (Figure 2). The regulation involves an interplay between systemic hormones, mechanical stimuli, and locally produced cytokines, growth factors, and other mediators (Compston 2001). Remodeling takes place in the basic bone multicellular units along the trabecular surface and within the cortical bone. During a remodeling cycle osteoclasts remove a small quantity of bone, which is, after a reversal time, replaced by new tissue formed by osteoblasts (Boyce and Xing 2008). There is usually a balance between the removed and newly formed amounts of bone. In healthy young adults, the remodeling balance is close to zero such that the total amount of bone tissue remains largely unchanged. Bone loss occurs when the overall remodeling balance remains negative, and the amount of bone formed is less than the amount removed by bone resorption. The rate of bone remodeling and the number of bone multicellular units are increased in for example postmenopausal osteoporosis, hyperparathyroidism, and rheumatoid arthritis. The remodeling process is vital for the repair of microdamage and maintenance of skeletal integrity, but it does not result in changes in bone shape (Boyce and Xing 2008, Clarke 2008).



Figure 2. Bone remodeling cycle.

During the first phase, osteoclasts break down old bone matrix and a resorption cavity is formed. During the second phase, osteoblasts fill the cavity with collagen and other matrix proteins. During the third phase, the collagenous matrix undergoes mineralization, and during the resting phase lining cells cover the bone surface.

2.3.3 OPG/RANKL/RANK system

RANKL is an essential cytokine for osteoclastogenesis. It is a member of the tumor necrosis factor (TNF) family and expressed by osteoblasts and their immature precursors (Figure 3). Receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa B (RANK) is a receptor of RANKL and expressed by osteoclast lineage cells. It promotes osteoclast formation and activation, and suppresses osteoclast apoptosis, thereby prolonging osteoclast survival time (Hofbauer and Schoppet 2004). OPG acts as a soluble decoy receptor for RANKL and is able to block its effects. Various tissues and cell types, including osteoblasts, produce OPG; it protects bone from excessive resorption by binding to RANKL. OPG-deficient mice demonstrate decreased BMD, whereas the overexpression of OPG in transgenic mice leads to osteopetrosis (Bucay et al. 1998). Alterations in the OPG/RANKL/ RANK system are related to metabolic bone diseases in humans. Specific RANKL inhibitors, including a monoclonal antibody to RANKL, have been developed during the last few years. They have also been tested in humans in clinical trials showing successful inhibition of bone resorption, but the long-term effects are unknown and further studies are needed (Boyce and Xing 2008).



Figure 3. OPG-RANK-RANKL system.

2.4. Bone mass accrual in childhood and adolescence

Skeletal mass increases from approximately 70-95 g at birth to 2400 and 3300 g in young women and men, respectively (Trotter and Hixon 1974). Childhood and adolescence are characterized by longitudinal growth, resulting from a combination of bone modeling and remodeling, as well as changes in skeletal shape and size.

Mechanical forces on bone, generated by muscles, tightly control bone mass accrual (Frost and Schonau 2000). PBM is the amount of bone tissue accrued at the end of skeletal maturation (Bonjour et al. 1994). An estimated 70-80% of the variance in PBM between individuals is determined by genetic factors and the rest by environmental factors. These estimates are based on comparisons of BMD between monozygotic and dizygotic twins, and between twins and nontwin siblings (Dequeker et al. 1987, Pocock et al. 1987, Young et al. 1995, Eisman 1999, Albagha and Ralston 2003).

In healthy children, bone mass increases throughout the first two decades of life. However, the most rapid rise occurs during puberty in both genders, at 11-13 years in girls and at 13-17 years in boys (Bonjour et al. 1991, Kröger et al. 1993). In girls, the rate of bone mass gain decreases rapidly after menarche, while in boys bone mass gain persists up to the age of 17 years (Theintz et al. 1992). The timing of puberty may also be important for the magnitude of PBM. Late menarche in girls and delayed puberty in boys have in some studies been associated with reduced BMD (Rosenthal et al. 1989, Finkelstein et al. 1992, Bertelloni et al. 1995).

Before puberty, boys and girls develop bone mass at similar rates, but during puberty and early adulthood boys tend to acquire more bone mass (Nelson et al. 1997, Nguyen et al. 2001). Sex steroids are the key regulators of skeletal growth and maturation during puberty. In girls, estrogen initiates together with growth hormone (GH) and insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) the 3- to 4-year pubertal growth spurt, during which the bone mass almost doubles. Estrogen is also required for the attainment of maximal PBM and is essential for normal closure of the growth plates in both genders (Compston 2001). The action of testosterone induces larger bone size and approximately 25% greater areal BMD (aBMD) in boys than in girls (Riggs et al. 2002).

The PBM is known to be an important determinant of the future bone health and fracture risk; at least 90% of PBM is acquired by the age of 18 years (Bailey et al. 1999, Heaney et al. 2000). The full genetic potential of PBM is achieved only if physical activity, calcium and vitamin D intake, and nutrition are optimized and growth and pubertal development occur normally. The impact of nonoptimal lifestyle factors may be most harmful during adolescence, the period during which the bone mass mostly accrues. A chronic illness may have deleterious effects on bone health by various mechanisms, including underlying illness, medications, associated secondary hypogonadism, and delayed pubertal maturation (Sochett and Mäkitie 2005, Bianchi 2007). These effects may be immediate, resulting in fragility fractures during childhood, or become evident with a delay after suboptimal attainment of PBM and subsequent susceptibility to adult osteoporosis.

2.5. Regulators of bone mass

2.5.1 Calcium

The genetic potential of bone mass cannot be reached or maintained if calcium supply from the diet or its absorption from the intestine is insufficient. During childhood and adolescence calcium is also needed for skeletal growth. Inadequate calcium intake results in low calcium absorption, lower circulating ionized calcium levels, and increased PTH secretion (Dawson-Hughes and Bischoff-Ferrari 2007). PTH regulates blood calcium levels by releasing calcium from bone and stimulating its reabsorption in the kidney, as well as by stimulating the renal synthesis of 1,25(OH)₂D, with a consequent increase in intestinal calcium absorption. In addition to depleting or limiting bone mass gain, low calcium intake causes bone fragility through the PTH-stimulated increase in bone remodeling (Heaney et al. 2000). Calcium is a threshold nutrient so that below a certain level skeletal accumulation varies with intake, and above this level the accumulation is constant regardless of increased intake (Heaney 2007).

The dietary recommendations of the National Nutrition Council (2005) in Finland for daily calcium intake in children and adolescents are presented in Table 1.These recommended doses are below the threshold of calcium intakes suggested by Matkovic and Heaney (1992) and Jackman et al. (1997). A positive correlation between milk consumption in childhood and adolescence and BMD in adulthood has been observed (Murphy et al. 1994, Soroko et al. 1994, Teegarden et al. 1999). However, some studies in healthy children and adolescents have found neither a correlation between total dietary calcium consumption and childhood bone health nor consistent benefits from increased intake of dairy products for children's bone health (Kröger et al. 1993, Kardinaal et al. 1999, Jones et al. 2000). Other studies, by contrast, have reported these factors to have a positive effect (Ruiz et al. 1995, Goulding et al. 1998, Wang et al. 2003). Courteix et al. (2005) showed that 800 mg calcium substitution increased the effect of physical exercise on bone mineral gain in prepubertal girls, but this effect was not seen in the group that was less active. In a placebo-control-

led study of 51 premenarcheal twin pairs randomized to receive either 1200 mg calcium substitution daily or placebo, a small increase in hip and lumbar spine BMD was found over the next 12-18 months, but these gains were not maintained at 24 months (Cameron et al. 2004).

Age	Calcium (mg)	Vitamin D (μg)*
6-11 months	540	10
12-23 months	600	10
2-5 years	600	7.5
6-9 years	700	7.5
10-17 years	900	7.5

Table 1. Recommendation for calcium and vitamin D intakein children and adolescents according to the Finnish NationalNutrition Council (2005).

* 1 μg = 40 IU

2.5.2 Vitamin D

Vitamin D metabolism

Vitamin D_2 or ergocalciferol is a plant or yeast-origin vitamin D, with wild mushrooms and algae being its main sources. Vitamin D_2 is less potent and has a shorter duration of action than vitamin D_3 (Armas et al. 2004). After sunlight exposure, ultraviolet B photons in humans penetrate the epidermis and photolyze 7-dehydrocholesterol into previtamin D_3 , which rapidly becomes a more thermodynamically stable molecule, vitamin D_3 (Holick 2003). D_3 or cholecalciferol is obtained from such food items as fatty fish or fortified margarines and spreads. Increased skin pigmentation, use of sunscreens, and aging reduce the production of previtamin D_3 .

Vitamin D₃ is metabolized twice to be activated. First, it is hydroxylated in the liver into 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25-OH-D) or calcidiol, which is the most abundant vitamin D metabolite in humans. The second hydroxylation, 1 α -hydroxylation, occurs in the kidney, resulting in the synthesis of the active hormonal form of vitamin D, 1,25(OH)₂D or calcitriol (Figure 4). Both calcidiol and calcitriol undergo also 24-hydroxylation to form 24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D [24,25 (OH)₂D] (Holick 2003, Lips 2006). 1,25(OH)₂D is able to enter cells, bind to intracellular vitamin D receptor, and activate numerous target genes. The main effects of 1,25 (OH)₂D are to increase calcium absorption in the gut, maintain serum calcium level within the normal range, and ensure normal bone mineralization. PTH stimulates the production of calcitriol, while calcium and phosphate decrease it.

Calcitriol influences not only calcium homeostasis and bone mineralization but has also antiproliferative effects, and vitamin D deficiency may play a role in the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases (Holick 2007). Although most of the calcitriol production occurs in the proximal renal tubule, extrarenal 1 α -hydroxylase expression has been demonstrated in bone, vascular smooth muscle cells, brain, testis, prostate cells, colon epithelial cells, islet cells of the pancreas, macrophages, and parathyroid glands, and conversion of circulating 25-OH-D to its active form occurs also in these tissues (Segersten et al. 2002, Somjen et al. 2005).



Figure 4. Metabolism of vitamin D (adapted from Deeb et al. 2007).

Vitamin D deficiency

During childhood vitamin D deficiency causes rickets, which is characterized by failure or delay in endochondral ossification at long bone growth plates (Wharton and Bishop 2003). Rickets can manifest only prior to the fusion of the epiphysis, and thus, is a disease of childhood. Clinical symptoms include swollen growth plates in long bones, knock-knees or bowed legs, enlargement of the costochondral junctions of ribs, hypotonia, and delayed motor development (Bishop 1999, Wharton and Bishop 2003). In adults, vitamin D deficiency induces osteomalacia, which is characterized by defective mineralization of osteoid on the cortical and trabecular surfaces of bone and an increased amount of unmineralized osteoid. Both rickets and osteomalacia may be associated with bone pain, muscle weakness, and hypocalcemic seizures. The typical laboratory findings in vitamin D deficiency rickets/osteomalacia are hypocalcemia, normal or low phosphate, elevated PTH, and increased alkaline phosphatase

Serum 25-OH-D concentration reflects vitamin D status in the body. The halflife of 25-OH-D is much longer than that of 1,25 (OH)₂D, 14-21 days versus 4-6 hours (Lauridsen et al. 2005). The target serum levels for optimal vitamin D status have increased during the last years. The S-25-OH-D threshold for maximal calcium absorption capacity is suggested to be 80 nmol/L, and this level has been regarded as the ideal minimum vitamin D concentration for optimal bone health (Heaney et al. 2003, Dawson-Hughes et al. 2005). The concentration of 80 nmol/L has been shown to prevent bone loss, decrease fracture risk, and suppress PTH secretion in the elderly (Dawson-Hughes et al. 2005).

The daily recommendations for vitamin D intake in Finland, according to the National Nutrition Council (2005) are presented in Table 1. Healthy children and adolescents in Finland have been demonstrated to have poor vitamin D status, especially during wintertime. The vitamin D level was \leq 37.5 nmol/L in 75% of 171 healthy Finnish girls, aged 9-15 years during winter (Lehtonen-Veromaa et al. 2002). Välimäki et al. (2004) found that 39% of 220 healthy Finnish military recruits had vitamin D values below 20 nmol/L in winter. Viljakainen et al. (2006) showed in a double-blind placebo-controlled study comprising 228 girls, aged 11-12 years, that vitamin D substitution of 5 µg and 10 µg increased bone mass accrual in the hip by 14.3% and 17.2%, respectively, compared with the placebo group. In the lumbar spine (LS), only the higher 10-µg dose increased bone mineral content significantly. It has been suggested that the recommendations for daily vitamin D intake in Finland be re-evaluated since insufficient vitamin D status negatively impacts PBM accrual (Välimäki et al. 2004) and may even have negative effects on the extraskeleton.

2.5.3 Physical activity

Bone mass accrual is tightly controlled by mechanical loads on bone generated by muscle forces (Frost and Schonau 2000). The beneficial effects of regular exercise on bone mass accrual during childhood and adolescence have been confirmed in many studies (Bailey et al. 1999, Nurmi-Lawton et al. 2004, Hasselstrom et al. 2007). The maximal positive effect on BMD may require guite intense loading with high impact forces. Weight-bearing exercise, such as walking, dancing, running, jogging, jumping, and aerobics, is considered most effective. The exact duration or intensity of physical activity that provides the optimal stimulus for bone mass accrual is unclear. In one study, gymnasts had higher spinal and femoral BMD compared with swimmers or sedentary girls (Courteix et al. 1998). Differences in BMD values between the dominant and nondominant arm in junior tennis players were found, and if the training program was started already in childhood, also the diameter of the dominant forearm was increased (Haapasalo et al. 1998). Whether the positive effects of physical activity on the growing skeleton are maintained during adulthood remains to be elucidated. Baxter-Jones et al. (2008) found that physically active adolescents, as compared with their less active peers, maintained their higher bone mineral content (BMC) into the third decade of life. In a Japanese study, 46 postmenopausal women who had participated in weight-bearing sports between 12-18 years had significantly greater BMC in the lumbar spine and femoral neck and also greater femoral diaphyseal bone cross-sectional area than their less active peers (Kato et al. 2009). Impaired physical activity is common in chronically ill children and may negatively affect their BMD.

2.5.4 Estrogen, testosterone, and growth hormone

The period prior to puberty bone growth is largely GH-dependent, but sex steroids are essential for the completion of epiphyseal maturation and bone mineral increase during puberty. Trabecular bone is influenced more than cortical bone by sex steroids (Bass et al. 1999). Patients with hypogonadism have reduced BMD and increased fracture risk, and hormonal replacement therapy is associated with BMD improvement (Saggese et al. 1997). Boys with aromatase deficiency or estrogen receptor defects have low BMD (Khosla et al. 2002), confirming the significant role of estrogen also in boys for normal bone mass accrual. Secondary hypogonadism and delayed pubertal maturation may be associated with a chronic illness and predispose to osteoporosis.

GH deficiency in children and adolescents is associated with decreased bone mass gain and low BMD (Baroncelli et al. 2000). Adequate GH treatment leads to increased bone mass (Boot et al. 1997, Baroncelli and Saggese 2005). The GH action on bone is mediated mainly through IGF-1, which positively affects the osteoblasts and stimulates the synthesis of collagen. In GH-deficient children

and adolescents, low bone mass is partly due to reduced bone size and delayed skeletal maturation.

2.5.5 Parathyroid hormone

PTH is an 84-amino-acid peptide released from the parathyroid glands in response to hypocalcemia. Its main function is to maintain a constant plasma ionized calcium concentration. A reduction in plasma calcium increases PTH secretion, while low phosphate or elevated calcium decreases it. The three physiological regulators of PTH secretion and synthesis are extracellular calcium and phosphate ions and calcitriol. In bone, PTH stimulates calcium and phosphate release, and in the kidney tubulus it stimulates reabsorption of calcium and exretion of phosphate. It also enhances renal synthesis of 1,25 (OH)₂D, thereby increasing calcium and phosphate absorption from the gut (Brown 2006).

The action of PTH on bone is dual: stimulation or inhibition of bone collagen and synthesis of matrix. Chronic administration or increased secretion of PTH in primary hyperparathyroidism leads to a catabolic state, which stimulates bone resorption and leads to bone loss. The release of calcium is accompanied by the release of phosphate and matrix components. Paradoxically, when PTH is administered intermittently in suitable doses, it increases the volume of trabecular bone. These anabolic effects of PTH are under intensive research to develop new protocols for osteoporosis treatment and prevention (Potts 2005). A recombinant human PTH (1-34, teriparatide), given subcutaneously, was found to reduce the number of new vertebral fractures by 65% in postmenopausal women (Neer et al. 2001). The use of teriparatide is contraindicated in children because of the potential risk of osteosarcoma.

In the kidney, PTH inhibits phosphate reabsorption in both the proximal and distal tubules, while calcium reabsoption is increased only in the distal tubulus. In patients with normal kidney function, PTH induces phosphate excretion in urine, which can lead to hypophosphatemia and stimulate bone resorption (Brown 2006).

In chronic renal failure, several factors may contribute to the development of secondary hyperparathyroidism: 1) impaired phosphate elimination in the kidneys, 2) hypocalcemia, 3) impaired 1,25 (OH)₂D synthesis, and 4) decreased number of calcium-sensing and vitamin D receptors in the parathyroid glands. In secondary hyperparathyroidism, PTH excretion is increased at all plasma calcium levels (Wesseling et al. 2008). Chronic kidney disease (CKD)-mineral bone disorder occurs in patients with chronic renal failure and who have 1) alterations in calcium, phosphate, and vitamin D metabolism, 2) abnormalities in bone turnover, mineralization, and volume, or 3) extraskeletal calcification (Sanchez 2008). The term renal osteodystrophy defines alterations in bone morphology associated with CKD. Histomorphometry allows assessment of the state of bone turnover, mineralization, and bone volume (Moe et al. 2006).

2.6 Osteoporosis

2.6.1 Definition of osteoporosis

The World Health Organization (WHO) has defined osteoporosis as a skeletal disorder characterized by low bone mass and micro-architectural deterioration of bone tissue with a consequent increase in bone fragility and susceptibility to fracture (WHO 1994). A redefinition was published in 2000 by National Institutes of Health (NIH), in which osteoporosis was defined as a skeletal disorder characterized by compromised bone strength, predisposing to an increased risk of fracture (NIH 2000). In clinical practice, the diagnosis of osteoporosis in adults is often based only on the assessment of BMD by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA), without previous fractures. BMD results are presented as T-scores: the measured BMD is compared with the average BMD of young adults at the time of PBM, and the difference is presented in standard deviation (SD) units. These T-scores are used to define osteoporosis and osteopenia. Osteoporosis is defined as a T-score less than or equal to -2.5, and osteopenia as a T-score between -1.0 and -2.5. A T-score less than or equal to -2.5 in conjunction with a history of low-impact fracture is considered severe osteoporosis (WHO 1994).

For children and adolescents who have not yet achieved their PBM, the use of T-score is not possible. Instead, the use of Z-scores is recommended. A Z-score is a comparison of the measured BMD with the mean BMD for gender and age in SDs. According to a position statement of the International Society for Clinical Densitometry (Rauch et al. 2008), the diagnosis of osteoporosis in children and adolescents should not be based on DXA results alone, but requires both a significant fracture history and a low BMC or BMD. A clinically significant fracture history is defined as a vertebral compression fracture, one lower extremity long bone fracture, or two or more upper extremity long bone fractures. Low BMC or aBMD is defined as a Z-score \leq -2.0, adjusted for age, gender, and/or body size, as appropriate. A Z-score between -2.0 and -1.0 is defined as low-normal. For children and adolescents, the term "low BMD for chronological age" may be used if the subject's Z-score is below -2.0, stature is normal for age, and no fracture history is present.

2.6.2 Classification of osteoporosis

Primary osteoporosis

Osteoporosis in an otherwise healthy child is defined as primary and is divided into heritable disorders of connective tissue and idiopathic juvenile osteoporosis. Genetic defects influencing bone development, such as osteogenesis imperfecta (OI), Ehlers-Danlos syndrome, Marfan syndrome, osteoporosis-pseudoglioma syndrome, and homocystinuria, are the major causes of primary osteoporosis. In idiopathic juvenile osteoporosis, the underlying defect is unknown.

OI is the most common form of primary osteoporosis. OI is characterized by bone fragility and low bone mass. Mutations in the type I collagen genes (*COL1A1* or *COL1A2*) cause most of the seven different clinical subtypes (Rauch and Glorieux 2004, Glorieux 2008). However, new mutations in for example, *P3H1* and *CRTAP* genes have recently been found in rarer forms of OI (Cheung and Glorieux 2008). The severity of the disease varies widely; the most severe forms lead to perinatal death, while patients with the mildest form may even avoid fractures. The extraskeletal manifestations include blue sclerae, dentinogenesis imperfecta, skin hyperlaxity, hearing impairment, and hypermobility of the joints, but their absence does not exclude the diagnosis.

Idiopathic juvenile osteoporosis is a rare condition described by Dent and Fieldman (1965) over four decades ago with an estimated incidence of 1:100 000. It usually presents during pre-pubertal years (mostly between 8 and 12 years of age) with back pain, walking difficulties, and vertebral compression fractures in an otherwise healthy child or adolescent. It is also characterized radiologically by radiolucent areas in the metaphyses of long bones. The clinical course of this disease is variable and spontaneous improvement has been reported in most patients, but in others rapid progression may occur (Dent 1977). The genetic cause is in most cases unknown, but in a study by Hartikka et al. (2005) 3 of 20 patients with idiopathic juvenile osteoporosis had a heterozygous mutation in the low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 5 (*LRP5*) gene.

Secondary osteoporosis

Osteoporosis caused by an underlying illness and/or its treatment is defined as secondary. The list of causes of secondary osteoporosis in children is growing, due in part to improved long-term outcomes for children with chronic diseases. In addition to the chronic illness itself, several other factors, such as medications, chronic inflammation, impaired physical activity, hormonal causes, or nutritional problems, may predispose these patients to impaired bone health. The illnesses that may be associated with secondary osteoporosis and possible predisposing factors in these patient groups are shown in Table 2.

Table 2. Diseases associated with secondary osteoporosis.	
Chronic illness	Mechanism
Rheumatological diseases Juvenile idiopathic arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosis, dermatomyositis	Inflammatory cytokines, glucocorticoids and calcineurin inhibitors, decreased physical activity
Neuromuscular disorders Cerebral palsy, Duchenne muscular dystrophy, others	Decreased physical activity, decreased muscle mass and strength
Gastrointestinal disorders Inflammatory bowel diseases, celiac disease, cystic fibrosis, biliary atresia, cholestatic liver diseases	Inflammatory cytokines, glucocorticoids, malabsorption, poor nutrition
Renal diseases Chronic kidney disease, nephrotic syndromes	Renal osteodystrophy, glucocorticoids, hormonal disturbances, vitamin D deficiency
Hematological diseases Leukemia, stem cell transplantation	Medications, radiation therapy, decreased physical activity, late endocrine effects
Endocrine disorders Klinefelter syndrome, Turner syndrome, Cushing's syndrome, gonadal dysgenesis, hyperthyroidism	Hypogonadism, glucocorticoid excess, increased bone turnover
Solid organ transplantation Kidney, liver, heart, and lung	Underlying diseases (renal or hepatic osteodystrophy), gluco- corticoids and other medications, decreased physical activity, hormonal disturbances
Eating disorders Anorexia nervosa, bulimia	Malnutrition, low calcium and vitamin D intake, hormonal disturbances

2.7 Juvenile idiopathic arthritis and bone health

In previous studies, JIA has been associated with osteoporosis, vertebral and peripheral fractures, and growth retardation (Elsasser et al. 1982, Varonos et al.1987, Simon et al. 2002, Wang et al. 2002, Celiker et al. 2003, Lien et al. 2003, Burnham et al. 2006a). One longitudinal study followed 63 children with JIA and healthy controls for 18 months. Nine of the patients had a vertebral fracture (VFx) at baseline and four experienced one during the follow-up (Elsasser et al. 1982). In a population-based study of 1939 patients with childhood-onset arthritis and 207 072 controls, the patients with arthritis had an increased risk of both vertebral and nonvertebral fractures, especially during adolescence and after the age of 45 years (Burnham et al. 2006a). A Norwegian study of 105 adolescent patients with JIA found aBMD Z-score below -1.0 in 25%, 34%, and 31% of patients for the LS, whole body, and femoral neck, respectively. Low aBMD values were more frequent in adolescents with early-onset JIA than in young adult patients with later-onset JIA. Of all patients, 71% had never been on GC treatment, but 39% of this group had low BMD values (Lien et al. 2003).

2.8 Bone health in patients with a history of solid organ transplantation

Several studies have evaluated bone health in adult Tx patients and reported osteoporosis and fragility fractures. A high prevalence of osteoporosis (T-score \leq -2.0) for the LS and/or hip was found in 41% of 32 adults after heart transplantation (HTx) (Glendenning et al. 1999). Leidig-Bruckner et al. (2001) reported that nearly one-third of 105 patients had sustained a vertebral fracture (VF) by the end of the third year after HTx. Reduced BMD and VF after LTx are prevalent in adults (Ramsey-Goldman et al. 1999, Hamburg et al. 2000, Ninkovic et al. 2000, Leidig-Bruckner et al. 2001, Hardinger et al. 2003). Longitudinal BMD measurements showed the greatest reduction in the LS during the first six months postoperatively (Hardinger et al. 2003). Long-term follow-up (up to 15 years) demonstrated an improvement in BMD mainly during the second year post-LTx, with no deterioration thereafter (Hamburg et al. 2000). One study found VFx in 14% of 130 LTx patients in the first postoperative year, and the proportion increased to 21% by the end of the second year (Leidig-Bruckner et al. 2001). Most of the fractures occurred in the lower thoracic or lumbar region. The patients with a LS BMD T-score below -2.5 were at increased risk for VFx (Leidig-Bruckner et al. 2001). In adult RTx patients, previous studies have reported variable prevalence rates of osteoporosis and fractures. In a crosssectional study in adults, the prevalence of osteoporosis was 53% (Durieux et al. 2002). One study revealed no bone loss after the second posttransplantation year, while another study found progressive improvement in postoperative BMD, approaching normal values after 10 years (Grotz et al. 1995, Carlini et al. 2000). A nearly 5-fold increase in fracture incidence was reported in adult RTx patients and the frequency of VFx was over 20-fold higher as than that of the general population (Abbott et al. 2001, Vautour et al. 2004).

Data on BMD development, especially VFx in pediatric liver transplant recipients, are limited (Hill et al. 1995, Guthery et al. 2003). In a study by Hill et al. (1995), 19 (16%) of 117 children who underwent LTx sustained a total of 69 fractures in a six-year period. Forty-nine (71%) of the fractures in 13 children occurred before Tx, and 20 fractures (29%) in six patients occurred after Tx. Almost all of the fractures occurred in the ribs or long bones, no spinal radiographs were taken, and no VFx, were detected (Hill et al. 1995). In another study of 109 pediatric long-term LTx survivors, only 7% had reduced bone mass (LS BMD Z-score < -2.0). These patients had been treated for rejection at least once and had greater cumulative prednisone exposure during the preceding year than those without reduced bone mass. No fracture assessment was included in this study (Guthery et al. 2003).

Limited data on bone health implications of pediatric RTx are available. Most of the previous studies are cross-sectional BMD evaluations lacking information on fractures. Chesney et al. (1984) published the first paper on children's bone health outcome after RTx and reported a significant decrease of BMC in 11 of their 18 patients; the loss was significantly greater in patients receiving daily GC treatment than in those on alternate-day dosing. In a cross-sectional study of 83 children and adolescents receiving living-related RTx, the LS aBMD Z-score was between -1.0 and -2.5 in half of the patients and below -2.5 in one-fifth (el-Husseini et al. 2004). In another cross-sectional study, the LS BMD Z-score was below -2.0 in 45% of the 33 children; older age and longer time since RTx increased the risk for low BMD (Ellis et al. 2000). Feber et al. (1994) found in a longitudinal study of 14 children a significant decrease in BMD during the first six months postoperatively despite normal graft function. During the following 18 months the bone loss stabilized and BMD increased.

2.9 Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry

The first DXA scanners were introduced in the late 1980s to detect postmenopausal osteoporosis. Nowadays, however, DXA measurements are increasingly performed also on children and adolescents with chronic disease or frequent fractures. Measurement sites generally used in clinical practice for adults are LS (from L1 or L2 to L4), femoral neck, and total hip (Kanis 2000).

DXA is a projectional technique that provides a two-dimensional measurement of BMC (g) and bone area (cm²) of three-dimensional bone. BMD (cm²), derived from equation BMC/bone area, is not the true volumetric density (g/cm³) because no measure of bone depth is included. Therefore, children with smaller bones will falsely establish lower aBMD than children with larger bones, despite identical volumetric bone densities because bone thickness is not measured. Further, DXA is unable to distinguish between trabecular and cortical bones (Leonard 2005).

According to the International Society for Clinical Densitometry Official Positions 2007, the pediatric DXA examination should ideally include scans of the LS (posterior-anterior) and the total body less the head (Gordon et al. 2008). The hip, including total hip and proximal femur, is not regarded as a reliable measurement site in growing children due to a significant variability in skeletal development and lack of reproducible regions of interest. The whole body measurement gives important data of the total bone mass and body composition and provides also data of the fat mass and lean (mainly muscle) body mass separately. A high correlation between muscle mass and bone mass in children is in line with the functional bone-muscle unit theory (Högler et al. 2003). BMC is thought to be one of the preferred methods of bone status assessment because of its reproducibility and lack of errors related to areal density measurements. However, the lack of reference values for children under nine years of age limits its use in children (Ellis et al. 2001, Kalkwarf et al. 2007). In primary or secondary hyperparathyroidism, in which cortical bone loss prevails, a forearm measurement may give more information, but scant pediatric reference data exist for the forearm. With short imaging time and low radiation dose, DXA is also easily performed on small children.

Bone age corresponds to pubertal maturation. Children with a chronic disease often have delayed pubertal development, and correction of the DXA result for bone age is important to avoid falsely low values. Also correction for height age is used to avoid the impact of short stature on the results. Height age is estimated by determining the age at which the fiftieth percentile on the heightfor-age growth curve corresponds to the child's height. Correction for height age is problematic if a short but already pubertal adolescent is compared with a prepubertal child (Bachrach 2005).

Vertebral fracture assessment (VFA) or instant vertebral assessment (IVA) of the thoracic and LS, usually from T4 to L5, can also be obtained by some DXA instruments using a specific software with the patient in either the supine or lateral position (Figure 5). The radiation exposure is very low (from 0.11 μ Sv to 14.9 μ Sv depending on the device used) compared with conventional radiography and is therefore ideal, especially for children. Whether the resolution of VFA is adequate for analysis of vertebral morphology is unclear. Studies in adult patients have demonstrated that the sensitivity and specificity of IVA were comparable with those of spine radiographs in detecting grade 2 or 3 vertebral fractures, but not as good in lower grade fractures (Lewiecki and Laster 2006). In detecting morphological vertebral deformities, VFA has been shown to be accurate in adults in the lower thoracic and lumbar regions (Chapurlat et al. 2006, Damiano et al. 2006). There is only one pediatric study comparing IVA with conventional radiographs, and it found good visibility of vertebrae in T8-L4, but compromised visibility in the upper thoracic region (T4-Th7); IVA was constantly inferior to standard radiographs. Only 9 (36%) of the 25 vertebral fractures found in plain radiographs were detected in IVA images (Mäyranpää et al. 2007).

Strong evidence exists that, in adults, the BMD value is a good predictor for future fracture risk. Marshall et al. (1996) found that the risk of fracture doubles with each 1 SD unit decrease in aBMD T-score. In children and adolescents, the relationship between BMD and fracture risk is not yet clear. Some studies have suggested that healthy children prone to developing osteoporosis and fractures later in life could be identified by measuring BMD before pubertal development occurs (Ferrari et al. 1998, Flynn et al. 2007). Skaggs et al. (2001) found in 100 healthy girls, aged 4-15 years, half of whom had sustained a fore-arm fracture, that the peripheral quantitative computed tomography measured cross-sectional area at the distal radius was 8% smaller in the fracture group (Skaggs et al. 2001). Goulding et al. (2000) measured the aBMD values of 100 girls, 3-15 years of age, after a forearm fracture and noted that those who sustained a new fracture during four-year follow-up had significantly lower total body aBMD at baseline.



Figure 5. Vertebral fracture assessment by DXA, the red arrow on the left shows a compression fracture. Lumbar spine aBMD development with age is shown on the right.

2.10 Skeletal effects of immunosuppressive drugs

2.10.1 Glucocorticoids

Almost 80 years ago, Harvey Cushing (1932) observed that patients with excess endogenous glucocorticoid (GC) developed bone fractures. Synthetic GCs have been widely used in juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) and after organ transplantations because of their anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive potential. However, similarly to endogenous GC excess, they are known to have a strong negative influence on bone metabolism, even when administered in low doses.

GCs have both direct and indirect effects on the skeleton and cause increased bone resorption and decreased bone formation. These changes have been confirmed also histologically in bone biopsies (Dalle Carbonare et al. 2001). The skeletal effects of GCs occur in two phases. Increased bone resorption appears initially and may be due to indirect effects of GCs, including decreased intestinal calcium absorption, increased urinary calcium excretion, and decreased synthesis of gonadotrophins, sex steroids, and IGF-1. After extended exposure to GCs, the function of osteoblasts decreases and bone formation is impaired (Canalis 2003, Canalis et al. 2007). GCs increase RANKL expression, inhibit OPG production by osteoblasts, and suppress OPG serum levels (Hofbauer et al. 1999, Sasaki et al. 2001). GCs induce apoptosis of mature osteoblasts and osteocytes, resulting in a reduced number of bone-forming cells (Weinstein et al. 1998). The impact of GCs on bone is summarized in Table 3 and Figure 6.

induced bone loss.		
Indirect effects		
intestinal calcium absorption	\downarrow	
urinary calcium excretion	↑	
gonadotrophin synthesis	\downarrow	
sex steroid synthesis	\downarrow	
IGF-1 synthesis	\downarrow	
Direct effects		
osteoclastogenesis	↑	
apoptosis of osteoblasts and osteocytes	↑	
RANKL expression	↑	
osteoblast life span	\downarrow	

Table 3. Mechanisms of glucocorticoidinduced hope loss

Apoptosis of osteocytes may play an important role in GC-related BMD loss. microarchitectural deterioration of bone structure, and predisposition to fractures. Osteocytes are believed to sense the need for remodeling and communicate with lining cells (Manolagas 2000). The negative effect on bone formation leads to a reduced total amount of bone replaced in each remodeling cycle (Dalle Carbonare et al. 2005). Numerous studies in adults and animal models have demonstrated that GCs induce predominantly trabecular bone loss (Dalle Carbonare et al. 2001). GC-induced myopathy may also contribute to bone loss by altering gravitational forces on the skeleton and reducing weight-bearing activities and mobility. Secondary hyperparathyroidism does not explain GCinduced osteoporosis because in most patients PTH is normal or only slightly elevated, and GCs mainly induce trabecular bone loss whereas hyperparathyroidism is predominantly associated with cortical bone loss (Canalis et al. 2007). In children and adolescents, impaired linear growth is associated with GC therapy (Foster et al. 2004). GCs and IGF-1 have opposite effects on the skeleton; IGF-1 increases the function of osteoblasts, bone collagen synthesis, and bone formation (Giustina et al. 2008).





GC-induced osteoporosis is the most common form of secondary osteoporosis (Mazziotti et al. 2006). The risk of fractures is increased in adult patients during the use of GCs (van Staa et al. 2000a, Kanis et al. 2004, Steinbuch et al. 2004). Decreased BMD has been described in many pediatric disorders treated with GCs, but much less is known about fractures and GC use in this population. A large population-based study reported that children who required more than four courses of oral GCs had an increased risk of fractures, especially in the

forearm, but the risk decreased and was comparable with that of nonusers after cessation of treatment (van Staa et al. 2003a). In adults, the fracture risk was increased mostly in the hip and spine (van Staa et al. 2000b).

The disease for which GC treatment is used may also contribute to the increased risk. Inflammatory cytokines, such as tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), also suppress bone formation and induce bone loss. Independent of GC therapy, increased fracture risk has been reported in adults with rheumatoid arthritis or inflammatory bowel disease (Cooper et al. 1995, van Staa et al. 2003b). The largest adult study, including over 200 000 GC users and their age- and sexmatched controls, reported that the risk of fractures was related primarily to daily rather than cumulative GC dose, so that daily doses > 2.5 mg prednisone equivalents were associated with an increased risk for both vertebral and hip fractures (Van Staa et al. 2000a) Osteonecrosis, also known as avascular necrosis, is a serious complication of GC use. It occurs most often in the proximal femur, the head of the humerus, and the distal femur. The etiology remains unknown, but may be due to fat emboli, oxidation injury, or enhanced osteocyte apoptosis (Mankin 1992, Weinstein et al. 2000, Ichiseki et al. 2005).

An alternate-day steroid regimen may induce less GC side-effects than the daily regimen (Jabs et al. 1996, Hiraoka et al. 2003, Vidhun and Sarwal 2005). In addition to dosing, other factors, such as individual variability in the response to oral GC therapy, are important and partly explain why some patients seem to be more sensitive to GC-induced obesity, metabolic changes, osteoporosis, and fractures. Genetic polymorphisms in the GC and other steroid hormone receptor genes are associated with differences in BMD development and alterations in body composition after GC exposure (Gennari et al. 2002, van Rossum and Lamberts 2004). It has also been suggested that individual variability in expression of GC-metabolizing enzymes in osteoblasts may result in higher GC exposure within bone and development of localized osteoporosis (Cooper 2004).

2.10.2 Other immunosuppressive drugs

Cyclosporine A (CsA) and tacrolimus (FK506) are calcineurin inhibitors that suppress the activation and production of T-cells and the release of interleukin-2 and other cytokines (Matsuda et al. 2000). In murine models, CsA administration causes high-turnover osteoporosis, mainly in trabecular bone, and increases osteocalcin and 1,25 (OH)₂D levels. In a high-turnover state, both bone resorption and formation are increased, but resorption rate exceeds bone formation. In a rodent model, the actions of FK506 were similar to those of CsA (Movsowitz et al. 1989, Epstein 1996). The effects of calcineurin inhibitors on the human skeleton are difficult to study because these inhibitors are rarely used in isolation and usually treated patients have an underlying disease that may itself affect bone health. Comparison of CsA monotherapy with a non-CsA regimen in renal transplant patients showed that both regimens decreased BMD at the distal radius and less in the LS but no statistical difference in the amount of bone loss was found between the groups (Cueto-Manzano et al. 2003). Kidney transplant patients receiving CsA had more bone loss than patients on FK506 (Josephson et al. 2004). FK506-based regimens may improve bone health by allowing the use of lower GC doses. Chronic nephrotoxicity leading to secondary renal insufficiency is occasionally a problem in patients treated with calcineurin inhibitors and may predispose to renal osteodystrophy (Campbell et al. 2006).

Mycophenolate mofetil (MMF), azathioprine (Aza), or rapamycin do not appear to have significant skeletal side-effects (Bryer et al. 1995, Romero et al. 1995, Dissanayake et al. 1998). Methotrexate (MTX) has been reported to cause osteopenia when used to treat childhood malignancies (Mandel et al. 2004). The dosing in JIA is substantially lower and does not seem to have adverse effects on bone (Cranney et al. 2001, Cimaz 2002). TNF- α is known to be an important mediator in various inflammatory conditions and in postmenopausal osteoporosis (Feng 2005). The new anti-TNF agents, introduced at the end of 1980s for the treatment of rheumatic diseases in adults and approximately ten years later also in children, may prevent bone loss by regulating osteoclast formation and activation or by decreasing the amount of circulating cytokines (Saidenberg-Kermanac'h et al. 2004, Feng 2005).

3. AIMS OF THE STUDY

Children with JIA or a history of solid organ Tx have several potential risk factors for osteoporosis. However, the prevalence of osteoporosis and fragility fractures, and the role of specific clinical and treatment-related risk factors in the development of osteoporosis remain largely unknown. We therefore carried out a study in children with JIA and in children with an organ transplant. Specific aims were as follows:

- 1. To investigate the incidence and prevalence of fractures in children and adolescents with JIA or a solid organ transplant
- 2. To assess BMD by DXA
- 3. To determine the role of GC exposure and vitamin D deficiency in the development of impaired bone health
- 4. To identify other clinical and treatment-related factors that may predispose to poor bone health

4. MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.1 Patients and controls

The studies of this thesis comprised 62 patients with GC-treated JIA (Study I), 196 patients with a history of solid organ transplantation during childhood or adolescence (Study II), 40 pediatric LTx patients (Study III), and 106 pediatric RTx recipients (Study IV). Twenty-five and 68 of the patients in Studies III and IV, respectively, were also included in Study II.

In epidemiological Study II, fractures in children, adolescents, and young adults (from 0 to 30 years) that were treated in primary health centers and university hospitals in the city of Helsinki, were used as controls. This group comprised of 207103 individuals.

Validity of the BMD reference values, was tested in 199 healthy Finnish children ranging in age from 7 to 19 years.

4.1.1 Inclusion criteria for patients

Study I: Consecutive patients between the ages of 4 and 18 years who fulfilled the revised criteria of JIA according to the International League of Associations for Rheumatology (ILAR) classification. The time since diagnosis of JIA had to be at least 2 years, and the patient should have been on systemic GC treatment for at least 3 months and treated at the Hospital for Children and Adolescents, University of Helsinki, since diagnosis.

Study II: Children, adolescents, and young adults who had undergone RTx, LTx, or HTx under the age of 18 years during 1983-2002 and who were treated at the Hospital for Children and Adolescents, University of Helsinki. Young adults who had already been transferred to adult units for follow-up were also invited to participate.

Studies III and IV: Consecutive children and adolescents who had undergone LTx before the age of 16 years (III) or RTx before the age of 18 years (IV) at least 6 months before the date of enrollment and who were aged between 4 and 20 years at the time of the study. All transplantations had been performed at the Hospital for Children and Adolescents, University of Helsinki, and follow-up of the patients was at the same hospital. Patients on dialysis treatment were excluded (IV).

4.1.2 Treatment of patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis

The pharmacological treatment of JIA was individualized and based on the subtype of JIA and the severity of the disease. Treatment of patients with mild disease, such as oligoarthritis without uveitis, was usually initiated using intra-articular GCs or nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs or a combination of these. The most commonly used nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory in our patients was naproxen at a daily dose of 15-20 mg/kg. If the symptoms of oligoarthritis persisted or worsened, or if the patient already had a polyarticular or systemic disease, a more aggressive therapy was initiated. Oral GC, in our patients usually prednisolone, was usually started with a dose of 1-2 mg/kg/daily for some weeks, and the dose was tapered as soon as possible. An alternateday GC regimen was preferred. Patients with a systemic disease were on high GC doses longer and also intravenous GC therapy was used in these patients. Disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs, such as MTX, sulfasalazine, Aza, and CsA were used as second-line drugs, with MTX most often being administered at a weekly dose from 10 to 20 mg/m². Twenty (33%) of our patients did not respond adequately to conventional drug treatment, and TNF- α antagonists were used for them

4.1.3 Immunosuppressive medication after transplantation

The transplant patients were treated primarily with triple-drug immunosuppressive medication, including CsA, Aza, and methylprednisolone (MP). Since year 1999, the liver and renal transplant patients also received basiliximab as an induction. Antithymocyte globulin was used as an induction therapy in HTx. CsA was started perioperatively and the target trough levels were 300-400 µg/L after LTx or HTx, and 250-300 µg/L after RTx during the first weeks. The doses were then slowly reduced to attain levels of 70-100 µg/L at one year and thereafter. MP was given 1-3 mg/kg/day during the first postoperative days and tapered to 0.25 mg/kg/day at 2 weeks. A low-dose alternate-day MP regimen was commenced at 3-6 months in RTx patients (mean daily dose 0.12 mg/kg) and at 6 months in LTx or HTx recipients (mean daily dose 0.19 mg/kg). After the first postoperative year, the MP dose was not increased with growth. Aza was given 2 mg/kg/day for the first 2 weeks and then reduced to 1 mg/kg/day, and increased to 1.3-1.4 mg/kg/day at 3 or 6 months, when MP was changed to alternate-day dosing. Acute rejections were primarily treated with MP (3 mg/ kg/day) for 5 days. If features of chronic rejection or recurrent acute rejections were observed in the renal, liver, or heart biopsies, the patients were switched to FK506 and/or MMF (II-IV).
4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Study design and data collection

All studies consisted of a retrospective part in which hospital charts were reviewed for the underlying disease and treatment characteristics, growth, pubertal development, and previous fracture history. The mean weight-adjusted (mg/kg) daily doses of MP, CsA, and Aza were calculated during the annual follow-up visits (II). Orally administered GCs were converted to prednisolone equivalents in JIA patients and all doses used after the diagnosis were recorded (I). Absolute and weight-adjusted cumulative doses of MP, including the doses used for rejection treatment, were calculated for each transplant patient. For LTx patients, the whole postoperative period was included and for RTx recipients a 3-year period preceding the study (III, IV). The patients and/ or their parents filled out guestionnaires on the patient's fracture history, and the fractures were also specially asked about during the study period. For each reported fracture, the localization and mechanism of injury were recorded. Radiographic documentation was obtained from hospital records for all fractures. A high-energy trauma was defined as a fall of >3 m or a traffic accident (I-IV).

In the cross-sectional part of the study, laboratory and anthropometric data, BMD evaluation with IVA images, spinal radiographs, evaluation of pubertal development, and data collection by questionnaires were performed concurrently (I, III, IV). All patients were clinically assessed by two pediatric rheumatologists (I) or by a pediatric nephrologist (III, IV). Global assessment of overall well-being by the parents or guardians, physician's global assessment of disease activity, and Childhood Health Assessment Questionnaire (CHAQ) were administered to all patients with JIA. A 3-day dietary recall was obtained for patients with arthritis, and based on these recordings, the average daily intakes of calcium and vitamin D were calculated for each patient using the computer program AIVO 2000-Diet32, version 1.4.2.1, which is based on the Finnish dietary references for 1998 (I). A detailed clinical examination of the spine and extremities was performed on all transplant patients in Study II by two orthopedic surgeons. Information on the use of dairy products and calcium or vitamin D supplements were obtained by a detailed review in Studies I, III, and IV.

Fracture incidence was assessed also prospectively during a 5-year prospective study period in Study II. Fracture history was systemically recorded at yearly follow-up visits during this study, and a thorough clinical examination of the spine was performed at the beginning and at the end of this prospective part of the study. The development of BMD was also prospectively evaluated during a 2-year period in 14 children with a history of a recent RTx (IV).

4.2.2 Growth assessment

Height was measured with a Harpenden stadiometer and weight in thin underwear with an electric scale; values were compared with Finnish growth charts (Sorva et al. 1990, Pere 2000). Height SD score (height Z-score) was defined as deviation of height, in SD units, from mean height for age and sex. Weight was expressed as a height-adjusted value, as a percentage of the mean ratio in a normal population of the same gender and height, according to Finnish standards (Sorva et al. 1990, Pere 2000). Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as weight in kilograms divided by square of height in meters (kg/m²). Pubertal maturation was assessed according to Tanner (1962) as part of the clinical assessment (I, III, IV).

4.2.3 Biochemistry

The following laboratory parameters were assessed in Studies I, III, and IV. Plasma calcium, phosphate, alkaline phosphatase, and creatinine were measured using standard methods. Plasma concentrations of alanine aminotransferase, gamma glutamyltransferase, and total and conjugated bilirubin were analyzed using standard methods (III), and blood urea nitrogen and magnesium were measured (IV). Reference ranges for plasma alkaline phosphatase were age- and sex-dependent, and the measured values were transformed into Z-scores using normal values to allow for cross-sectional comparison. Serum 25-OH-D was assessed by liquid chromatography (Turpeinen et al. 2003), 1,25-(OH)₂D by RIA (only in Study IV), and plasma fasting PTH by an immuno-luminometric method. Girls >8 years and boys >10 years were assessed also for serum follicle-stimulating hormone, luteinizing hormone, and estradiol or testosterone. All blood samples were drawn between 7:30 and 10:00. Urine was analyzed for calcium/creatinine ratio in all patients (I, III, IV).

Glomerular filtration rate (GFR) was measured by 51 Cr-EDTA clearance, and the measured clearances were corrected for a standard body area of 1.73 m² (III, IV).

4.2.4 Imaging studies

4.2.4.1 Bone mineral density measurement

Data on LS BMD measurements, carried out as part of the routine posttransplantation follow-up, were collected from hospital records for each patient (III, IV). In the cross-sectional studies, BMC and aBMD of the LS (L1-L4), femoral neck, total hip, and whole body were measured with DXA (Hologic Discovery A, pediatric software, version 12.4). All measured values were transformed into Z-scores using the equipment-specific age- and sex-adjusted reference database for the United States Caucasian children. The validity of these reference values was tested in a cohort of 199 healthy Finnish children (125 girls and 74 boys; age range 7.4-18.8 years, median 13.1 years) who were assessed with the same DXA equipment as part of an ongoing study evaluating bone health in healthy schoolchildren in the Helsinki area. Their median BMD Z-scores were 0.0, +0.1, and 0.0 for the LS, total hip, and whole body, respectively, confirming that the use of equipment-specific reference data in this study was justified (I, III, IV). Whole-body lean tissue mass (LTM) and BMC were obtained by DXA. The BMC/LTM ratio was calculated for both height and age according to Högler et al. (2003), and the results were transformed into Z-scores. The BMC/LTM ratio was used to correct the BMC values for body size and muscle mass (I, III).

The aBMD Z-scores were calculated for both calendar age and bone age. The correction for skeletal maturation instead of "height age" was used because bone age was delayed by \geq 1 year in 24% of JIA patients, 43% of liver transplant patients, and 42% of renal transplant patients. The aBMD Z-scores corrected for bone age were higher than the values calculated for calendar age at all measured sites. Therefore, bone-age-adjusted Z-scores were used in the analysis of the study measurements; only calendar-age-adjusted Z-scores were available for the longitudinal analysis.

4.2.4.2 Radiographic evaluation

Bone age was determined from a plain radiograph of the left hand according to Greulich and Pyle (1959). To detect vertebral compression fractures, anteroposterior and lateral images of the thoracic and LS (IVA) were obtained once for each patient using the DXA scanner (I-IV). If the LS aBMD Z-score was <-2.0, if a VFx was suspected in IVA images, or if the vertebrae could not be</p> sufficiently visualized in IVA images, standard spinal radiographs were taken (I, III, IV). Vertebral deformities and compression fractures were assessed according to the classification of Mäkitie et al. (2005). This method was developed for the evaluation of vertebral body morphology changes in chronically ill children with secondary osteoporosis. The vertebral changes were classified as normal (grade 0 or 1), anterior wedge deformities (only the anterior part of the vertebra compressed), or compression deformities (also the middle and/or posterior part of the vertebra are compressed). These abnormal changes were further classified as mild (2a; 20-49% anterior height reduction) or severe (2b; ≥50% anterior height reduction) anterior wedge deformities, or mild (3a; 20-49% mild height reduction) or severe (3b; ≥50% middle height reduction) compression deformities (I-IV).

Posteroanterior and lateral radiographs of the thoracic and LS were obtained at the final follow-up of the prospective part of the study for subjects with a history of VFx, back pain, increased kyphosis, rib hump, or other spinal deformity in the clinical examination. For the remaining patients, these images were obtained by the DXA scanner (II).

4.3 Ethical considerations

The study protocols were approved by the Ethics Committee of the Hospital for Children and Adolescents, University of Helsinki. A written informed consent was obtained from all patients and/or their guardians.

4.4 Statistics

Descriptive data were reported as medians and ranges or as means \pm SD. Simple regression analysis was used for correlations, unpaired two-tailed Student's T-test to compare means, and the Mann-Whitney U-test to compare nonnormally distributed variables. Comparisons between three or more groups were made by ANOVA, and for nonparametric data the Kruskall-Wallis test was used. The Chi-square test was applied when nominal data were compared (I, III, IV).

The Kaplan-Meier test was used to estimate the probability of patients remaining free of fractures during the follow-up, and the stratified Kaplan-Meier curves were applied to assess the risk factors for fractures after transplantation (II). Age-and sex-adjusted hazard ratios and 95% confidence intervals for different fracture types in the patients and controls were calculated by Cox's proportional hazard regression model, and a multicovariate Cox's proportional hazard regression model was used to assess the effects of different risk factors for developing any type of fracture in the patient group (II).

Multivariate logistic regression was used to identify and determine odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals for significant predictors of low BMD (IV). A p-value of less than 0.05 was considered significant.

5. RESULTS

Bone health was evaluated in 62 (19 males) children and adolescents with JIA who had been treated with GCs and multiple drug combinations and were aged between 4 and 18 years (I). In the epidemiological study, the incidence of fractures was evaluated in a population-based cohort of 196 (121 males) children, adolescents, and young adults with a history of solid organ transplantation before the age of 18 years (II). Bone health evaluation was performed on 40 (21 males) LTx and 106 (65 males) RTx patients aged between 4 and 20 years and who had at least a 6-month follow-up after LTx or RTx. All of these patients were receiving calcineurin inhibitor, antimetabolite, and low- dose MP (III, IV).

The clinical characteristics of the patients are shown in Table 4. Most of the subjects with JIA were of normal stature, while about one-fourth of the children and adolescents after transplantation had a height Z-score below -2.0. Overweight was found in 38% after RTx. The median heights and height-adjusted weights of the LTx and RTx patients in the cross-sectional part of the study are presented in Table 4 and during the longitudinal follow-up in Figure 7. Bone age was delayed by \geq 1 year in 24% of JIA, 43% of liver, and 42% of renal transplant patients. Since bone age was significantly delayed in such a large proportion of subjects, BMD values were corrected for bone age. The bone age-adjusted BMD values were higher in all of our study groups, and these corrected values, presented in Figure 8, were used in the cross-sectional analysis (I, III, IV).

Table 4. Clinical characteristics of patie	ents in Studies I-IV.				
	Study I	Study II	Study III	Study IV	Controls
	AIL	T×	LTx	RTx	
	n = 62	n = 196	n = 40	n = 106	n = 199
Male gender, n (%)	19 (31)	121 (62)	21 (53)	65 (61)	74 (37)
Age at study time, years	11.8 (4.6-17.9)	15.7 (3.7-30.4)	14.0 (4.1-19.8)	12.6 (4.1-18.8)	13.1 (7.4-18.8)
Age at transplantation, years		6.5 (0.4-18.1)	2.1 (0.4-15.3)	3.4 (0.7-16.4)	
Follow-up after Tx, years		9.2 (2.4-20.5)	7.0 (0.5-15.1)	5.1 (0.5-16.5)	
Age at JIA onset, years	4.0 (1.1-15.3)				
Duration of JIA, years	5.6 (2.0-15.1)				
Height Z-score	+0.1 (-2.9- +1.5)		-1.1 (-4.5- +0.8)	-1.2 (-3.6- +0.9)	+0.4 (-2.3- +3.2)
Height Z-score < -2.0, n (%)	2 (3)		9 (23)	28 (26)	1 (1)
Height Z-score > 0, n (%)	32 (52)		5 (13)	5 (5)	117 (59)
Height-adjusted weight, %	+4 (-17- +40)		+5 (-21- +62)	+9 (-20- +101)	+3 (-25- +92)
Height-adjusted weight > 20%, n (%)	9 (15)		5 (13)	40 (38)	29 (15)
Values are mean (range) II, median (ra	inge) I, III, IV. Tx = tr	ansplantation, Jl	A = juvenile idiopath	iic arthritis, LTx = li	ver

transplantation, RTx = renal transplantation



Figure 7. Medians for height, height-adjusted weight, and lumbar spine bone mineral density (BMD) for chronological age during posttransplantation followup in 106 children and adolescents with a renal graft (A) and in 40 children and adolescents with a liver transplant (B). Height and BMD are expressed in SD units (Z-score) and weight in percentages.



Figure 8. Bone age-adjusted lumbar spine and whole-body BMD Z-scores in controls and patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA), liver transplantation (LTx), or renal transplantation (RTx).

5.1 Biochemistry

Median serum vitamin D and PTH of subjects are shown in Table 5 and Figure 9. A vitamin D level below 37 nmol/L was measured in 26% of patients with JIA, and in 13% and 14% of patients with a liver or renal graft, respectively (Table 5). When the vitamin D samples obtained in winter (from October to March) and in summer (from April to September) were analyzed separately, no seasonal variation was observed in any of the patient groups. The lowest PTH values were found in patients with JIA and the highest in the RTx group. None of the patients with JIA or a history of LTx had PTH values above 100 ng/L, while in the RTx patients PTH was above 100 ng/L in 25% of patients (Table 5). A vitamin D value \geq 80 nmol/L was measured in 3% of JIA patients, 28% of LTx patients, and 25% of RTx patients. Serum calcitriol was within the normal range (48-110 pmol/L) in most of the patients; nine (8%) of the RTx patients had subnormal values (IV).

Most (83%) of the LTx patients were on vitamin D substitution, and 71% of the RTx patients had either vitamin D or alfacalcidol substitution, but only 32% of the JIA patients were on vitamin D substitution (Table 5).

	Study I	Study III	Study IV
	JIA	LTx	RTx
	n = 62	n = 40	n = 106
Vitamin 25-OH-D nmol/L, median (range)	49 (13-87)	61 (17-121)	60 (15-166)
Vitamin 25-OH-D < 37 nmol/L, n (%)	16 (26)	5 (13)	15 (14)
Vitamin 25-OH-D ≥ 80 nmol/L, n (%)	2 (3)	11 (28)	26 (25)
PTH ng/L, median (range)	32 (12-38)	43 (16-96)	69 (13-558)
PTH > 100 ng/L, n(%)	0	0	26 (25)
Patients on vitamin D substitution, n (%)	20 (32)	33 (83)	53 (50)
Patients on alfacalcidol, n (%)	0	0	22 (21)

Table 5. PTH and vitamin D values in patients with a history of juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA), liver transplantation (LTx), or renal transplantation (RTx).



Figure 9. Serum vitamin D and PTH concentrations in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA), liver transplantation (LTx), or renal transplantation (RTx).

5.2 Fractures

5.2.1 Nonvertebral fractures

Four (6%) of the JIA patients had sustained a nonvertebral fracture after the onset of JIA (I). The proportion of Tx patients with nonvertebral fractures was highest in subjects in the epidemiological study (II) and lowest in the RTx patients, 19% and 9%, respectively (II, IV). Five (13%) of the LTx patients had a nonvertebral fracture history (Table 6). The annual incidence of nonvertebral fractures was 3.8% after solid organ transplantation performed during childhood or adolescence and threefold higher in the study group than in the control population (II). No correlation was found between aBMD values or weight-adjusted cumulative GC doses and peripheral fractures in patients with JIA or renal transplantation (I, IV). In LTx patients, the MP exposure was lower in patients with peripheral fractures (p = 0.018) (III).

	Study I	Study II	Study III	Study IV
	JIA	Epidemiological	LTx	RTx
Number of patients	62	196	40	106
Number and proportion (%) of patients with fracture	4 (6)	38 (19)	5 (13)	10 (9)
Total number of fractures	4	64	10	12
Localization of fractures				
Upper extremity		37	9	7
Humeral		2	1	
Antebrachium	1	20	4	6
Other	2	15	4	1
Lower extremity		27	1	5
Femoral/pelvic		3	1	
Tibial/ankle		11		1
Other	1	13		4

Table 6. Nonvertebral fractures and their localization in study subjects.

Table 7. Vertebral fractures in study subjects

	Study I	Study II	Study III	Study IV
	JIA	Epidemiological	LTx	Rtx
Number of patients	62	196	40	106
Number and per cent of patients with VFx (%)	6 (10)	37 (19)	7 (18)	8 (8)
Total number of fractured vertebrae	14	102	19	17
Symptomatic patients, n (%)	0 (0)	18 (50)	0 (0)	2 (25)

VFx = vertebral fracture

5.2.2 Vertebral fractures

The number and localization of VFx are presented in Table 7 and Figure 10. In Study II, half of the patients with VFx had symptoms, e.g. back pain, and 11% needed operative fracture treatment. In the other studies (I, III, IV), most of the patients reported no pain, and none required operative treatment. Most of the fractures were detected in the thoracic spine (Figure 10).



Figure 10. Number and localization of vertebral fractures in 62 patients with JIA (A), 40 patients with liver transplantation (B), and 106 with renal transplantation (C).

In patients with arthritis, the duration of GC treatment or weight-adjusted cumulative GC dose did not differ in those with VFx compared with other study subjects, and none of the patients with VFx had bone age-adjusted aBMD Z-scores below -2.0. No gender difference was found in the prevalence of VFx.

In the epidemiological study of fracture incidence, older age at the time of transplantation, higher BMI, male gender, LTx, and a history of nonvertebral fracture prior to transplantation increased the risk for VFx, while the type of graft, retransplantation, or number of acute rejections were not associated with the risk of VFx. The age, and sex-adjusted hazard ratio with 95% confidence interval for VFx was 61.3 (CI 40.7-92.4). The average weight-adjusted (mg/kg) maintenance doses of CsA, Aza, or MP did not correlate with vertebral fractures (II).

The LTx subjects (III) with fractures were significantly older at the time of Tx (p = 0.002), more recently transplanted (p = 0.019), had higher BMI (p = 0.029) and whole-body fat percentage (p = 0.025), and lower aBMD Z-scores at the LS (p = <0.001), femoral head (p = 0.048), and whole body (p = 0.030) than those without VFx (Table 8). No difference was found in MP exposure. Five of the seven patients with VFx had LS BMD Z-score \leq -2.0. No differences were

observed in the laboratory parameters. All patients with VFx were adolescents (age range 12.0-17.3 years), and five of the seven had undergone transplantation after the age of 10 years.

The BMD Z-scores in RTx patients with VFx did not differ from the values of nonfractured patients (IV). The patients with VFx were older at the time of the study and had longer time since renal transplantation, but their age at transplantation did not differ from the others (Table 8). Nor did laboratory parameters, measured GFR, or weight-adjusted MP dose during the preceding three years or the time on dialysis differ from the others.

Characteristic	Vertebral frac	ctures after LTx		Vertebral fra	actures after RT	x
	yes	no	p-value	yes	no	p-value
	n = 7	n = 32		n = 8	n = 98	
Male gender	ŝ	18	ns	6	59	su
Age at study, years	14.7 ± 2.0	12.2 ± 4.8	ns	14.8 ± 1.8	11.5 ± 4.5	0.037
Age at transplantation, years	11.0 ± 4.7	3.6 ± 3.9	0.002	4.7 ± 4.6	5.4 ± 4.6	su
Time since transplantation, years	3.7 ± 3.8	8.5 ± 4.9	0.019	10.2 ± 4.9	6.2 ± 4.6	0.019
Height Z-score	-0.7 ± 1.1	-1.4 ± 1.3	ns	-1.0 ± 0.8	-1.4 ± 1.0	ns
Height-adjusted weight %	15.4 ± 16.7	6.4 ± 17.6	ns	13.9 ± 20.5	14.7 ± 23.9	ns
BMI	22.8 ± 5.9	18.5 ± 3.5	0.029	20.6 ± 3.3	19.5 ± 4.4	ns
Body fat (%)	35.9 ± 9.1	26.0 ± 9.9	0.025	22.8 ± 11.8	26.8 ± 9.9	ns
Lumbar spine BMD Z-score*	-2.4 ± 0.8	-1.0 ± 0.8	< 0.001	$+0.2 \pm 0.8$	-0.5 ± 1.0	su
Hip BMD Z-score	-1.6 ± 1.0	-0.8 ± 0.9	0.048	$+0.1 \pm 0.9$	-0.3 ± 1.2	ns
Whole-body BMD Z-score	-1.8 ± 1.2	-0.7 ± 0.9	0.030	-0.1 ± 0.7	-0.3 ± 1.1	ns
Duration of MP treatment, days	1878 ± 1574	3134 ± 1782	ns			
MP exposure[mg/kg]/days)	0.19 ± 0.11	0.19 ± 0.15	ns			
Cumulative weight-adjusted MP dose,						
mg/kg				84 ± 28	113 ± 67	ns
fP-PTH, ng/L	34 ± 18	48 ± 21	ns	85 ± 40	83 ± 76	ns

Table 8. Comparisons of 40 pediatric liver and 106 renal transplant recipients with vertebral fractures.

GFR, ml/min/1.73 m² All values are mean ± SD

S-25-OH-D, nmol/L

BMD values are corrected for bone age, LTx = liver transplantation, RTx = renal transplantation, MP = methylprednisolonePTH = parathyroid hormone, S-25-OH-D = 25 hydroxyvitamin D, GFR = glomerular filtration rate

ns ns

 63 ± 26 58 ± 21

 74 ± 16 53 ± 30

ns ns

 64 ± 27 83 ± 30

 70 ± 20

 70 ± 22

* 1 patient in both group with VFx in the lumbar spine was excluded from the analysis

5.3 Bone mineral density

5.3.1 Retrospective analysis of bone mineral density development

Altogether 208 and 478 lumbar spine BMD assessments were available for the longitudinal analysis of BMD in 40 LTx patients and 106 RTx patients, respectively (III, IV). The median LS BMD Z-score was -2.2 at the time of transplantation and \leq -2.0 in 75% of the LTx patients (III). It then gradually increased during the following years to a peak value of -0.5 at seven years (Figure 7 B) posttransplantation when the Z-score was \leq -2.0 in 22% of the subjects. Complete BMD data for the pubertal years were available for 10 LTx patients. In eight of these the aBMD Z-score decreased by \geq 0.7 during puberty and was significantly subnormal (mean LS Z-score -1.9, range -0.8- -4.4) at completion of puberty in all of them (Figure 11 A, B).



Figure 11. Development of lumbar spine BMD Z-score over puberty in four females (A) and six males (B) after LTx.

In RTx patients, the median LS BMD Z-score was -0.4 at the time of RTx and \leq -2.0 in 9% of the subjects. It decreased postoperatively (median Z-score -1.0 at year one), but increased during the following years to attain a peak value of -0.2 at five years postoperatively (Figure 7 A). During puberty the median aBMD Z-scores increased in male subjects, in contrast to females, for whom the scores decreased (Figure 12). Concurrently, the median height Z-score remained at -1.0 nine years after RTx despite catch-up growth (Figure 7 A).



Figure 12. Development of lumbar spine BMD Z-score over puberty in girls and boys with RTx.The curves represent median values.

5.3.2 Cross-sectional analysis

A comprehensive aBMD analysis with DXA and clinical examination were performed on JIA, LTx, and RTx patients. The median aBMD values for the LS and whole body were higher when corrected for bone age. The median LS BMD Z-scores were -0.4, -1.2, and -0.5, and the median whole-body BMD Z-scores were -0.1, -0.8, and -0.3 in the patients with JIA, LTx, and RTx, respectively. The LS BMD Z-scores were \leq -2.0 in three of the JIA patients, five of the LTx patients, and four of the RTx patients and for the whole body in one, six, and four patients, respectively (I, III, IV) (Table 9).

	Study I	Study III	Study IV
	JIA	LTx	RTx
	n = 62	n = 40	n = 106
Lumbar spine aBMD Z-score	-0.4 (-2.8 - +1.8)	-1.2 (-3.8 - +0.8)	-0.5 (-2.8- +2.4)
Lumbar spine Z-score ≤ -2.0, n (%)	3 (5)	6 (15)	4 (4)
Hip aBMD Z-score	-0.1 (-2.1 - +2.4)	-0.9 (-2.6- +0.9)	-0.2 (-3.0- +2.9)
Hip aBMD Z-score ≤ -2.0, n (%)	1 (2)	5 (13)	6 (6)
Whole-body aBMD Z-score	-0.1 (-1.9 - +2.4)	-0.8 (-3.6 - +0.6)	-0.3 (-3.2- +1.8)
Whole-body aBMD Z-score ≤ -2.0, n (%)	1 (2)	6 (16)	4 (4)

Table 9. Bone mineral density in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis, liver, or renal transplantation

5.3.3 Prospective analysis

A prospective more thorough evaluation of BMD development during the first 2 years after RTx was performed in 14 patients. It showed a decrease in BMD at 6 months after RTx in all 8 male subjects and in 4 of the 6 female subjects. Thereafter the BMD values recovered.

5.4 Determinants of bone mineral density

We studied various parameters in relation to BMD to identify the clinical and treatment-related factors that may predispose to impaired BMD in patients with JIA or a solid organ transplant.

5.4.1 Age and duration of dialysis treatment

No correlation was found between the age at onset of JIA and aBMD Z-scores (I). Children who had undergone LTx before the age of two years had statistically higher aBMD Z-scores at all measured sites than those who were transplanted at an older age. However, the BMD values of children with RTx below two years of age did not differ from the other subjects (Table 10). Similarly, if the LTx was performed below the age of 10 years, the patients had higher BMD Z-scores for LS, hip, and whole body, with p-values of 0.005, 0.007, and 0.006, respectively. The six patients with LS Z-score \leq -2.0 were transplanted at an older age (14.1 vs. 2.0 years, p = 0.002) (III). Seventeen patients (16%) on dialysis for more than two years before RTx had lower LS aBMD Z-scores (IV).

transplantation at the age of = 2 years.						
	Age	at LTx		Age at	RTx	
	\leq 2 years	> 2 years	p-value	\leq 2 years	> 2 years	p-value
	n = 19	n = 21		n = 36	n = 70	
Age at study time, years	10.9 ± 4.0	14.2 ± 4.5	0.011	9.8 ± 4.1	12.7 ± 4.2	ns
Follow-up after transplantation, years	9.6 ± 4.0	6.0 ± 5.3	0.024	8.4 ± 4.0	5.4 ± 4.7	0.002
Height Z-score	-1.2 ± 1.2	-1.3 ± 1.4	ns	-1.2 ± 1.0	-1.4 ± 0.9	ns
Height-adjusted weight, %	$+6.6\pm14.3$	$+9.2\pm20.4$	ns	$+8.4\pm13.6$	$+17.8\pm26.9$	ns
aBMD Z-score for lumbar spine	$\textbf{-0.7}\pm0.6$	$\textbf{-1.7}\pm0.9$	0.002	-0.5 ± 0.9	-0.4 ± 1.0	ns
aBMD Z-score for hip	$\textbf{-0.5}\pm0.8$	$\textbf{-1.3}\pm0.9$	0.004	-0.3 ± 1.0	-0.2 ± 1.2	ns
aBMD Z-score for whole body	$\textbf{-0.5}\pm0.8$	-1.3 ± 1.1	0.030	-0.1 ± 1.0	-0.4 ± 1.0	ns

Table 10. Clinical characteristics and bone mineral density parameters in children and adolescents after liver or renal transplantation at the age of ≤ 2 years.

All values are mean ± SD. BMD Z-scores are corrected for bone age

5.4.2 Renal function

All of the patients with JIA had normal plasma creatinine, and it showed no correlation with aBMD values (I). The measured GFR was above 90 mL/min/1.73 m² in 13 (33%), between 60 and 90 mL/min/1.73 m² in 18 (45%), and between 30 and 59 mL/min/1.73 m² in 9 LTx patients (22%) (III). In RTx patients, GFR was above 90 mL/min in 10 (9%), between 60 and 90 mL/min in 35 (33%), between 30 and 59 mL/min in 52 (49%), and below 30 mL/min in 9 subjects (9%). None of the patients were on dialysis (IV). No statistical difference was found between these groups in aBMD values at any measured site (III, IV).

5.4.3 Vitamin D and parathyroid hormone

Twenty-six (25%) of the RTx patients had a 25-OH-D value \ge 80 nmol/L. Their aBMD Z-scores for the hip were higher than in the other RTx subjects (+0.3 vs. -0.4, p = 0.0023). Fifteen subjects (14%) had a vitamin D value below 37 nmol/L, and they had lower aBMD Z-scores for the hip and whole body, -0.9 vs. -0.2, p = 0.019, and -1.0 vs. -0.1, p = 0.002, respectively (IV). In a simple regression analysis, no correlation was found between PTH or vitamin D values and aBMD Z-scores in JIA or liver transplant patients (I, III). In Study I, the JIA patients with vitamin D values below 37 nmol/L had statistically higher PTH values (45 vs. 33, p = 0.007). No correlation was present between serum 1,25 (OH)₂D and aBMD values (IV).

5.4.4 Medication

The total duration of GC treatment or weight-adjusted cumulative GC dose in patients with JIA showed no correlation with aBMD values in any measured site. JIA patients treated with TNF- α antagonists had significantly higher mean duration (1993 days vs. 734 days, p = < 0.001) and mean cumulative weight-adjusted dose (387 mg/kg vs. 99 mg/kg, p = < 0.001) of GC than patients not taking TNF- α antagonists, but their aBMD values did not differ from the values of other JIA patients. The aBMD values of patients who had been on GC treatment during the year preceding the study did not differ from the others (I).

The cumulative MP exposure (mg/kg/day) during the total posttransplantation period after LTx did not correlate with aBMD values in any measured site (III). Also when the 36 patients with less than three years since RTx were excluded, no correlation was found between cumulative weight-adjusted MP dose and aBMD values in the remaining 70 subjects (IV).

5.4.5 Predictors for low bone mineral density in logistic regression analyses

Logistic regression analysis was performed to evaluate possible predictors for aBMD Z-scores \leq -1.0 at the LS or hip in RTx patients (IV, Table 11).

Gender alone was not a significant predictor, but when combined with patient's age at study assessment it was highly significant. The OR for the LS and hip aBMD \leq -1.0 in girls over 15 years were 56.26 (95% CI from 5.17 to 611.82) and 13.47 (95% CI from 1.17 to 154.69), respectively. When comparing the 9 girls and 22 boys aged >15 years with each other, no difference was observed in the duration of dialysis, age at RTx, time since RTx, height Z-score, height-adjusted weight, or GFR. A PTH value over 100 ng/L at the time of the study was a significant independent predictor for a low LS aBMD Z-score, with OR 4.03 (95% CI from 1.37 to 11.85), and similarly, vitamin D value below 40 nmol/L at the study time for a low hip aBMD, with OR 11.62 (95% CI from 3.31 to 40.86). Cumulative weight-adjusted MP dose over 150 mg/kg during the preceding three years was an independent risk factor for aBMD Z-score \leq -1.0 in the LS, with OR 5.72 (95% CI from 1.52 to 21.56).

In the logistic regression analysis, duration of dialysis treatment, age at transplantation, time since transplantation, GFR, and vertebral or nonvertebral fractures were not significant predictors for BMD.

Risk factor	BMD Z-score for lumbar spine \leq -1.0 n = 31	BMD Z-score for hip \leq -1.0 n = 22
Age at time of study > 15 years + female gender	56.26 (5.17 - 611.82)	13.47 (1.17 - 154.69)
n = 9	p = 0.0007	p = 0.033
fP-PTH > 100 ng/L	4.03 (1.37 - 11.85)	1.94 (0.51- 7.35)
n = 26	p = 0.009	p = 0.317
S-D-25 < 40 nmol/L	2.31 (0.60 - 8.95)	11.62 (3.31 - 40.86)
n = 18	p = 0.215	p = 0.0001
Cumulative weight-adjusted MP dose during	5.72 (1.52 - 21.56)	1.87 (0.31 - 11.12)
previous 3 years > 150 mg/kg	p = 0.008	p = 0.484

Table 11. Odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals for factors predicting lumbar spine and hip BMD Z-score \leq -1.0 in pediatric renal transplant patients.

Logistic regression model was used for analysis

PTH = parathyroid hormone, S-D-25 = 25-hydroxyvitamin D, MP = methylprednisolone

6. DISCUSSION

JIA and solid organ transplantation have been associated with changes in bone metabolism. Several factors may lead to impaired bone health in children with JIA or a history of Tx. Chronic inflammation, GCs, and limited physical activity in patients with JIA, and pre-existing bone disease, GCs, calcineurin inhibitors, impaired renal function, and changes in vitamin D metabolism in Tx patients are thought to have an impact on bone health. We investigated the incidence and prevalence of fractures, distribution of BMD, and vitamin D status in pediatric patients with GC exposure and attempted to identify clinical and treatment-related factors that may negatively affect bone health in these subjects.

6.1 Bone health characteristics in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis

Previous studies have reported a high prevalence of osteoporosis in children and adolescents with JIA. The last decade has brought new treatment modalities to children with JIA, but how these medications impact overall skeletal health is unknown. In this study, we evaluated bone health in 62 children with JIA.

The clinical course of JIA is variable; in some patients, the disease remains active for a long time and these individuals may enter adulthood with active disease (Ravelli 2004). Several cross-sectional long-term follow-up studies have reported reduced BMD in adults with a history of JIA (Zak et al. 1999, French et al. 2002). Zak et al. (1999) evaluated 65 adult patients (mean age 32 years) with a history of JIA and found osteopenic (T-score < -1.0) LS and hip aBMD values in 43% and 53% of the subjects, respectively. In the study by French et al. (2002), 28% of adult patients with JIA were osteopenic. Low aBMD values in early adulthood may predispose to increased risk and early presentation of fragility fractures.

Several factors may negatively affect bone health in patients with JIA. Chronic inflammation may result in generalized or periarticular bone loss (Haugeberg et al. 2003, Strand and Kavanaugh 2004). Cytokines and growth factors produced by synovial tissue may increase osteoclast formation, activity, and/or survival, and thus increase bone resorption (Gravallese 2002). Limited physical activity and reduced muscle forces acting on bone may pose an additional risk for osteoporosis (Häkkinen et al. 2004, Lindehammar and Lindvall 2004, Burnham et al. 2006b). However, medications, especially GCs, have been regarded as the main threat to skeletal health in patients with JIA. Both systemically and intra-articularly administered GCs can reduce bone formation and increase its resorption (Canalis 2003). MTX has been reported to cause osteopenia when used to

treat childhood malignancies (Mandel et al. 2004). The dosing in JIA is substantially lower and does not seem to have adverse effects on bone (Cranney et al. 2001, Cimaz 2002). Furthermore, both calcium and vitamin D intake may be suboptimal, and delayed puberty, which is common in patients with JIA, may negatively affect bone mass accrual (Rusconi et al. 2003, Hillman et al. 2008).

In our patients with JIA, the median bone-age-adjusted aBMD Z-scores were -0.4, -0.1, and -0.1 for the LS, hip, and whole body, respectively. Three (5%) of the patients had aBMD Z-score \leq -2.0 for the LS, one (1%) for the hip, and one (2%) for the whole body. The observed aBMD values were higher than reported in previous studies, but below the values of healthy schoolchildren in Finland, especially in the lumbar region. Most of our patients had normal stature. While all of the patients were on anti-rheumatic drug treatment (MTX, GC, TNF- α -antagonist, hydroxychloroquine, or sulfasalazine), a large proportion (55%) were in clinical remission. The majority (90%) of the subjects were able to participate in normal physical education at school. The positive effect of physical training on bone health is widely recognized and may partly explain the satisfactory aBMD values.

The proportion of patients with a history of nonvertebral fracture did not differ from that of the normal pediatric population. Six (10%) of our patients had, however, asymptomatic VFx. This number is high, particularly in view of the satisfactory aBMD values. This emphasizes the importance of active screening for VFx. DXA alone is not sufficient in detecting VFx, as none of our patients with VFx had an aBMD Z-score \leq -2.0. Therefore, spinal imaging is also needed for adequate fracture evaluation.

Neither the total duration nor the cumulative weight-adjusted dose of GC correlated with aBMD values or fractures. These results are in line with some previous reports that show low aBMD values even in JIA patients without GC exposure (Lien et al. 2003). In our subjects, no difference in bone health was observed between those patients receiving GC treatment during the survey and those who had previously been exposed to GC.

TNF- α is known to be an important mediator in various inflammatory conditions and in postmenopausal osteoporosis. TNF- α directly inhibits osteoblast differentation, function, and survival and promotes osteoclastogenesis (Feng 2005). TNF- α antagonists have provided a new effective treatment modality also in pediatric patients with arthritis. In addition, they may prevent bone loss directly by regulating osteoclast formation and activation or by decreasing the amount of circulating cytokines (Saidenberg-Kermanac'h et al. 2004, Feng 2005), and indirectly by allowing reduced GC dosing and improved physical activity (Lahdenne et al. 2003, Strand and Kavanaugh 2004, Simonini et al. 2005). During anti-TNF therapy soluble bone turnover markers decrease significantly and aBMD values significantly increase in adult patients with rheumatoid arthritis (Lange et al. 2005, Seriolo et al. 2006, Torikai et al. 2006). Twenty (32%) of our patients had been on TNF- α antagonists. This may partly explain the better aBMD values in our subjects. However, the small number of patients and the lack of prospective data in our study do not allow any firm conclusions to be made. Further longitudinal studies in pediatric patients are needed to elucidate the potential skeletal benefits of anti-TNF therapy.

6.2 Bone health after solid organ transplantation

Transplantation has become an established treatment modality for several diseases, including acute and chronic liver failure, end-stage renal disease, and heart failure. The number of people living with a graft has increased steadily during the last two decades. While the overall survival has improved, new problems, such as osteoporosis and fragility fractures, have emerged. The present epidemiological study showed a high incidence of fractures in 196 subjects who had undergone Tx during childhood or adolescence.

Because the overall incidence of fractures in the adult studies was high and no previous prospective studies were published on fracture incidence in pediatric Tx patients, we performed a retrospective and longitudinal study to define the fracture incidence in Finnish solid organ transplant recipients. Our study comprised 196 children, adolescents, and young adults with a kidney, liver, or heart transplant at or before 18 years of age. Over one third of these patients had sustained one or more fractures postoperatively, and 61% of the 166 fractures were vertebral. The annual incidence for vertebral and nonvertebral fractures postoperatively was 5.7%, and 3.8%, respectively. The incidence was 160-fold higher for the VFx and threefold higher for the non-vertebral fractures as compared with the control population. The number of vertebral and non-vertebral fractures in this epidemiological study was higher than in our subsequent studies on younger patient cohorts with a history of LTx or RTx. This may be due to a longer follow-up time and a larger proportion of patients who had already passed their adolescent growth spurt, period of the highest fracture incidence also in healthy children (Bailey et al. 1999).

In our patient group, one-half of the VFx were asymptomatic. This signifies that if VFx are not specifically searched for, many of them will elude proper diagnosis and treatment. Eight (11%) of the patients with VFx had needed operative treatment. This is a high proportion compared with the observations in our subsequent studies on pediatric LTx and RTx patients; none of them were operated. Higher GC doses were used in the oldest patients. The control of secondary hyperparathyroidism in patients on dialysis has also changed within the last decade. These factors may partly explain the different fracture patterns in the studies. However, this study showed that pediatric patients are also prone to fractures, and we therefore assessed bone health separately in children and adolescents after LTx or RTx.

6.3 Bone health in children and adolescents after liver transplantation

Surgical techniques, intensive care treatment, and immunosuppressive medication have improved greatly during the last 20 years, and today LTx is considered to be a standard care for children and adolescents with terminal liver failure, metabolic disease, or malignancy, with a five-year patient survival rate varying from 70% to 85% (Kayler et al. 2002, Diem et al. 2003). The number of children living with a graft is on the rise, and complications independent of graft function are of increasing relevance to the long-term outcome of these patients. These include psychomotoric and cognitive development, kidney function, and growth and orthopedic problems in these patients (Adeback et al. 2003, Qvist et al. 2003, Campbell et al. 2006, Helenius et al. 2006a, 2006b). Determinants of LTx bone disease are not clearly defined. Pre-existing bone disease, life-long immunosuppressive medication, especially GCs, and disturbances in pubertal development may be important factors. We assessed bone health and its determinants in 40 children and adolescents who had undergone LTx before the age of 16 years.

Okajima et al. (2003) showed in 30 consecutive children who underwent livingrelated LTx that the LS aBMD Z-scores improved markedly after Tx, with the mean Z-score being + 0.16 after two years. None of these children had fractures postoperatively, although three fractures were detected preoperatively. In contrast to the rapid bone loss reported in adults, no reduction in BMD occurred in the early postoperative period in these patients (Okajima et al. 2003). Khan et al. (2006) reported cross-sectional bone health data on 15 young adults who had undergone LTx during childhood or adolescence. The mean time after LTx was 12 years. Four limb fractures were reported postoperatively in these patients, but VFx were not assessed. The mean BMD Z-score for the LS was -0.4 and for the whole body -0.9; BMD values were statistically higher in patients on GCs at the time of the study (Khan et al. 2006).

VFx were present in 18% of our LTx patients. The fractures seemed to occur quite soon after LTx, especially in adolescent patients. The higher prevalence of VFx in recently transplanted patients suggests that the high GC doses used immediately after Tx may be more harmful than the cumulative dose and total duration of GC treatment. All of the VFx were asymptomatic, and the exact time of their occurrence remained unclear. Spontaneous remodeling after VFx occurs in early childhood, but usually not after the age of 13 years (Karlsson et al. 2003). Since BMD values significantly improved during the postoperative years, some recovery in vertebral morphology likely also occurred. The aBMD Z-scores were significantly lower in patients with VFx, in all measured sites. Almost all of the observed VFx were located in the thoracic region and only 11% in the lumbar region. In adults, vertebral fractures in the LS are more

common. Gallacher et al. (2007) reported that 22% of the subjects had fractures in the lumbar region and 21% in both the thoracic region and the LS. Therefore, the thoracic spine should be carefully evaluated for the presence of fractures, and standard spinal radiographs are often needed because thoracic vertebrae do not clearly visualize in the images produced by DXA (Mäyränpää et al. 2007).

In the retrospective analysis, we found that the LS BMD was significantly reduced at the time of LTx, but gradually improved to a peak value of -0.5 at seven years postoperatively. These findings are in line with previous studies. However, the median BMD remained subnormal and at a lower level than earlier reported in children (Okajima et al. 2003). Bone loss after LTx is greatest during the first 3-6 months postoperatively, when the GC doses are highest; this has been confirmed by bone histomorphometry (Bjoro et al. 2003, Guichelaar et al. 2004, Guichelaar et al. 2006).

The cross-sectional analysis in which the BMD values were corrected for bone age showed that more than half of our patients had LS Z-score \leq -1.0 and 15% had \leq -2.0, indicating that low BMD values are common in pediatric LTx recipients. The 19 patients (48%) transplanted as infants had higher aBMD values for the LS, hip, and whole body than those who were operated on later. The results suggest that low-dose GC exposure, even over several years, is usually well tolerated and does not necessarily translate into severe skeletal morbidity in children. The six patients with LS aBMD Z-score \leq -2.0 were all transplanted at an older age (14.1 vs. 2.0 years, p = 0.002).

Complete data on BMD development during pubertal years was available for 10 of our subjects. In eight patients (80%), the aBMD Z-score decreased by ≥ 0.7 during puberty, remaining significantly subnormal (mean LS Z-score -1.9) at the end of puberty in all of them. However, the median height Z-score remained stable during puberty signifying normal timing of the pubertal growth spurt. In healthy children, the most rapid increase in aBMD occurs during puberty in both genders, at 11-13 years in girls and at 13-17 years in boys (Bonjour et al. 1991). Individual sensitivity to GCs is a recognized modifying factor and the patient's age may also play a role, as pubertal patients seemed to be more prone to skeletal complications. Even small doses of GCs might interfere with normal bone mass accrual during the critical time of bone mass gain by negatively influencing the synthesis and action of gonadotrophins and sex steroids (Canalis and Giustina 2001).

6.4 Bone health in children and adolescents after renal transplantation

The frequency of low BMD values in children is dependent on the interpretation of results (Leonard 2005). In general, correction of BMD values for statural height or weight (instead of chronological age) reduces the frequency of subnormal values in children and adolescents (Klaus et al. 1998, Sanchez et al. 1998 Saland et al. 2001). Children with chronic renal failure often have short stature and linear growth is impaired even after successful RTx. Therefore, this correction of BMD values is important (Offner et al. 1999, Ninik et al. 2002, Nissel et al. 2004). In our patients, bone age was delayed by more than one year in almost half of the patients. We found thus it important to correct the BMD values for bone age to avoid overestimation of the BMD reductions in the cohort.

We evaluated bone health and the prevalence of low BMD, fractures, and longitudinal changes in BMD in a cohort of 106 pediatric RTx patiens. The overall bone health in our pediatric RTx patients was satisfactory. The bone-age-corrected BMD values were normal in most RTx patients, and the Z-score for LS, hip, and whole body was below –2.0 in only 4-6% of patients. Only one previous study has been published in which correction for bone age was used in 19 renal transplant children. In that study, the BMD Z-score for LS was below -2.0 in 63% vs. 26% and for femoral neck in 56% vs. 17% of patients when the values were adjusted for patient's chronological age or bone age, respectively (Goksen et al. 2005).

In Finland, the proportion of patients who have undergone RTx as infants is higher than in any other transplantation center in the world. This is due to the exceptionally high prevalence of nephrotic syndrome of the Finnish type, a disease belonging to the Finnish disease heritage. We therefore compared the BMD results of those transplanted before the age of two years with the others. Importantly, we showed that the aBMD Z-scores of children and adolescents transplanted as infants did not differ from those who underwent Tx at an older age. The exposure to the low-dose alternate- day GC regimen was longer in these subjects, but this treatment seemed to be well tolerated. The time on dialysis did not differ in these patient groups.

Low BMD values for both the LS and hip were significantly more common in adolescent girls than in younger girls or adolescent boys. This is unlikely due to delayed pubertal development since the mean age of menarche was normal (12.9 years) also in the females who were over 15 years at the time of this study. In adolescent females, even small doses of GCs have been speculated to interfere with bone mass accrual by negatively influencing the synthesis and action of gonadotrophins and sex steroids (Canalis and Giustina 2001). According to these observations, careful bone health evaluation is warranted, especially during puberty.

In Studies I and III on children with JIA and LTx, we failed to find a correlation between total GC exposure and BMD values; instead of the overall cumulative GC dose, skeletal health may be determined by more recent GC exposure. Therefore, only GC doses used during the three preceding years were included in Study IV. Logistic regression analysis confirmed that the cumulative MP dose during the preceding three years was a significant independent risk factor for low BMD (OR 5.72;1.52 -21.56, p = 0.008). Patients with a higher MP dose had a shorter time since RTx and were exposed to acute rejections, which mostly occur postoperatively during the first six months. Individual sensitivity to GC is a recognized modifying factor, and the patient's age may also play a role, as pubertal girls were more prone to skeletal complications (Chesney et al. 1984, Cooper 2004).

High-turnover bone disease associating with high serum PTH levels is the most common form of renal osteodystrophy in children on dialysis (Wesseling et al. 2008). Usually CKD-bone and mineral disease improves after RTx. However, in some patients hyperparathyroidism may persist for years. During dialysis treatment, oversuppression of PTH should be avoided to prevent development of adynamic bone disease (Wesseling et al. 2008).

The prevalence of VFx in our cohort was 8%, which is high considering the satisfactory BMD values. Most of the fractures were asymptomatic and would not have been detected without specific screening. Some of the patients transplanted as infants might have sustained VFx, but because of the suggested tendency for spontaneous recovery of VFx, during childhood growth (Karlsson et al. 2003) these fractures were no longer visible at the time of this study. Whether such spontaneous recovery also takes place during systemic GC treatment remains unknown.

6.5 Juvenile idiopathic arthritis or solid organ transplantation and vitamin D

Low vitamin D values were found in all of our patient groups exposed to GC treatment. The optimal vitamin D level for risk groups to prevent secondary osteoporosis is speculated to be about 80 nmol/L and only one-fourth of our patients achieved this level (Bischoff-Ferrari et al. 2006). For healthy children and adolescents vitamin D level of > 50 nmol/L is considered as indicative of vitamin D sufficiency (Misra et al. 2008). In contrast to previous studies no seasonal variation of vitamin D values was found in our patients. The use of sunscreens, highly recommended for early prevention of skin cancer in children after Tx, may partly explain this. Also, vitamin D substitution may mask this variation.

Little is known about calcium and vitamin D in JIA. In a study of 13 JIA patients, the mean baseline aBMD Z-score for the LS was -2.8 \pm 0.5, and this increased with vitamin D substitution to -2.3 \pm 0.5 after six months and to -2.4 \pm 0.4 after one year (Reed et al. 1991). In most of our patients, the vitamin D values were suboptimal, and only two (3%) of the subjects reached the level of 80 nmol/L. Only one-third of the patients were on vitamin D substitution. It is important to ensure sufficient intake of these nutrients, as vitamin D deficiency is highly prevalent in healthy children and adolescents, especially in the northern latitudes (Lehtonen-Veromaa et al. 2002, Välimäki et al. 2004).

Eleven (28%) of our LTx patients had vitamin D values \geq 80 nmol/L, while five subjects (13%) had level below 37 nmol/L. Most of the patients were on vitamin D and calcium substitution. However, based on these results, the dosing may have been inadequate for attaining optimal vitamin D levels. None of the patients had PTH values greater than 100 ng/L.

Plasma PTH above 100 ng/L was an independent predictor for reduced LS BMD in patients with RTx. Cohen et al. (2005) reported in nine adult survivors of pediatric HTx that elevated PTH may contribute to osteoporosis. In another study, all 58 adult RTx patients had elevated PTH values despite good renal function, and higher PTH values were measured in those with osteoporosis and high bone turnover (Cruz et al. 2002). According to the European pediatric guidelines, the PTH levels should be within the normal range in patients not on dialysis (Klaus et al. 2006). Vitamin D deficiency may cause PTH elevation also in patients with good graft function, and thus should be avoided.

6.6 Limitations of the study

Several limitations, mainly related to the study populations and applied methodology, were identified during this study. While the studies on fracture epidemiology in the transplant population and on bone health determinants in the RTx patients included a large number of patients, the studies on JIA and LTx patients were insufficiently powered to assess independent predictors of bone health. Furthermore, the cohort of JIA also included patients with relatively mild disease and may thus have failed to show the spectrum of skeletal complications in patients with more severe presentation. The number of patients with JIA treated with TNF- α antagonists was small, and the potential benefits of these medications for bone health could not be evaluated. However, the transplant cohorts were larger than in previous pediatric studies and included practically all pediatric LTx and RTx patients in the country.

We did not have control groups for most of the cohorts. In the epidemiological study, the control group consisted of patients aged 0-30 years, who had sustained a fracture during 2001 and who were treated for the fracture at primary healthcare centers or university hospitals in the city of Helsinki. Possibly, the true fracture rate in the control population may have been higher, as some milder fractures might have been treated in private clinics, and thus were not included in the register. Furthermore, the controls were not screened for VFx, and therefore the observed VFx rate may be an underestimation.

DXA has many limitations in pediatric use. Usually, the child must be at least four years of age to be able to stay still during the measurements. The association between low BMD and fractures is less established in children than in adults. DXA is based on two-dimensional assessment of three-dimensional skeletal structures and measures only aBMD, instead of volumetric BMD. The reference ranges of DXA are based on healthy children, and subjects with short stature or delayed skeletal maturity may have falsely low BMD values. Correction of the BMD for bone age and/or height is essential to avoid misinterpretation of the results. In the cross-sectional studies, we adjusted all BMD values with bone age. However, in the longitudinal analyses, no bone age films were available and only unadjusted values were used.

New methods for more accurate bone quantitation have been developed. Quantitative computed tomography measures true volumetric bone density, which is not size-dependent, and provides separate measurements for trabecular and cortical BMD. The radiation dose is, however, much higher than in DXA, limiting its use in children and adolescents. Peripheral quantitative computed tomography is more useful for pediatric purposes, and the sites used in the measurements include the distal radius, tibia, and femur. This method allows information to be obtained for both trabecular and cortical bone. Unfortunately, no reference values exist for children. No follow-up data of vitamin D measurements in our patients were available, and therefore vitamin D status at the onset of JIA and at the time of Tx or fracture remains unknown.

6.7 Future considerations

Many of the research questions presented here would be ideally investigated in prospective study settings with larger patient cohorts. A prospective study on patients with newly diagnosed JIA would be optimal to evaluate BMD development and the incidence of fractures. This study setting, with regular BMD assessment with DXA and peripheral computed tomography would allow more reliable assessment of the potential risk factors and the impact of TNF- α antagonists on bone health. In transplantation patients, the role of GCs in bone mass development can be evaluated accurately only if steroid-free protocols are also widely used in children and adolescents.

This study described the spectrum of bone disease in patient cohorts and identified potential risk factors for low BMD and fractures. However, elucidation of optimal preventive measures and the role of bisphosphonates in the treatment of secondary osteoporosis in these patients requires further studies.

7. CONCLUSIONS

Studies I-IV evaluated bone health in patients with JIA or a history of solid organ transplantation.

The main conclusions were the following:

1) Median BMD values were subnormal in all patient cohorts. The values were highest in patients with JIA and lowest in LTx patients. In the transplant patients, BMD was lowest during the immediate posttransplantation years, increasing subnormally during puberty. Delayed skeletal maturation was common in all patient groups, and therefore, correcting BMD results for bone age was essential.

2) Vertebral fractures were common in all patient groups and were mostly asymptomatic. Their diagnosis is thus dependent on active screening by spinal imaging. Vertebral fractures were most common in LTx patients, with a prevalence of almost 20%.

3) The total cumulative weight-adjusted GC did not correlate with BMD or fractures in patients with JIA or LTx. By contrast, the cumulative weight-adjusted dose of GC during the three preceding years was a significant independent risk factor for low LS BMD in RTx patients.

4) Vitamin D deficiency was common, and only 3% of patients with JIA and about 25% of patients with LTx or RTx were considered to have adequate serum vitamin D levels.

8. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was carried out at the Hospital for Children and Adolescents, University of Helsinki.

My sincere gratitude is due to Professors Christer Holmberg, Mikael Knip, and Erkki Savilahti and Docent Jari Petäjä, the Head of the Hospital for Children and Adolescents, and Docent Eero Jokinen, the Head of Department of Pediatrics, for providing excellent research facilities. Christer is also warmly thanked for introducing me to the fascinating world of pediatric nephrology and transplantation during my specialty training. Professor Markku Heikinheimo, the Head of the Pediatric Graduate School in Helsinki, is acknowledged for creating an optimistic and encouraging atmosphere in the research community.

I wish to give special thanks to the following persons:

My supervisors, Docent Outi Mäkitie and Professor Hannu Jalanko, for their patience in teaching me the principles of scientific research and writing, and for their endless encouragement and help during these years. I am indebted to Outi for her kindness and support during both happy times and moments of desperation. While, herself being an enthusiastic researcher, she has always emphasized to me the importance of life outside research. I admire Hannu's scientific skills and vast medical knowledge. He is not only an intelligent scientist but also an excellent clinician. His good sense of humor has helped resolve many problems. I feel really privileged to have worked with both of you!

Docent Marja Ala-Houhala and Professor Matti Välimäki for their thorough interest, skillful review and constructive criticism of this thesis.

Docent Päivi Miettinen and Professor Matti Välimäki, members of my thesis committee, for advice and support throughout this study.

All of my collaborators. Docent Ilkka Helenius, Docent Jari Peltonen, and Dr. Sari Salminen for sharing their broad orthopedic knowledge. Besides being a talented surgeon, Ilkka is a productive researcher. Docent Pekka Lahdenne and Dr. Kristiina Aalto for providing their expertise in rheumatology. Pekka's help in preparing the manuscript is especially acknowledged. Docent Kai Rönnholm for providing expertise in nephrology.

Carol Ann Pelli for skillful linguistic editing of this thesis.

M.Sc. Petri Palmu for statistical help. M.Sc. Pekka Paavola for helping me with the figures.

Patients and their parents for participating in this study.

Päivikki Rissanen, research nurse, for help and friendship. Leena Knuuttila and Elli Laitinen for assistance in the outpatient clinic of rheumatology. Aino Heikkilä for assistance with transplantation patients.

My colleagues at the Hospital for Children and Adolescents for encouragement throughout this process. The staff at the ward of Nephrology and Transplantation for a positive attitude towards my study and for taking good care of the transplantation patients.

My "bone sisters" in our research group (a.k.a. Skeletal Girls). With Päivi Kilpinen-Loisa, Christine Laine, Kati Markula-Patjas, Mervi Mäyränpää, Anne Saarinen, and Sanna Toiviainen-Salo, I have shared both the stressful moments and the joy of successful work. I will always remember the wonderful scientific sessions and meetings abroad during these years under the guidance of our outstanding leader, Docent Outi Mäkitie.

The research fellows in Biomedicum 2, especially Hanne Laakkonen, Helena Olkinuora, Anne Sarajuuri, Sonja Strang-Karlsson, Pirjo Tynjälä, and Karoliina Wehkalampi for friendship and help in many situations.

All of my precious friends outside of work for their interest and understanding over these years.

My dear mother and late father for lifelong love and caring, and for all the positive things you have installed in me. My brother and his family for support.

My beloved husband Ville for sharing his life with me. Our lovely children Johanna and Juho for bringing so much happiness into my life. Johanna is also thanked for helping with the figures.

This study was financially supported by the Biomedicum Helsinki Foundation, the Finnish Kidney Foundation, the Finnish Medical Foundation, the Finnish Transplantation Society, the Foundation for Pediatric Research, the Orion-Farmos Research Foundation, Päivikki and Sakari Sohlberg Foundation, the Sigrid Juselius Foundation, and the Research Funds of Helsinki University Hospital.

Helsinki, August 2009

Helena Valta

9. REFERENCES

Abbott, K.C., Oglesby, R.J., Hypolite, I.O., Kirk, A.D., Ko, C.W., Welch, P.G., Agodoa, L.Y. & Duncan, W.E. 2001, "Hospitalizations for fractures after renal transplantation in the United States", Annals of Epidemiology, vol. 11, no. 7, pp. 450-457.

Adeback, P., Nemeth, A. & Fischler, B. 2003, "Cognitive and emotional outcome after pediatric liver transplantation", Pediatric transplantation, vol. 7, no. 5, pp. 385-389.

Albagha, O.M. & Ralston, S.H. 2003, "Genetic determinants of susceptibility to osteoporosis", Endocrinology and metabolism clinics of North America, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 65-81.

Armas, L.A., Hollis, B.W. & Heaney, R.P. 2004, "Vitamin D2 is much less effective than vitamin D3 in humans", The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism, vol. 89, no. 11, pp. 5387-5391.

Aubin, J.E., Lian J.B. & Stein G.S. 2006, "Bone formation: Maturation and functional activities of osteoblast lineage cells", in Primer on the Metabolic Bone Diseases and Disorders of Mineral Metabolism, Sixth edn, Washington, D.C., the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, pp. 20-27.

Bachrach, L.K. 2005, "Osteoporosis and measurement of bone mass in children and adolescents", Endocrinology and metabolism clinics of North America, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 521-35.

Bailey, D.A., McKay, H.A., Mirwald, R.L., Crocker, P.R. & Faulkner, R.A. 1999, "A six-year longitudinal study of the relationship of physical activity to bone mineral accrual in growing children: the university of Saskatchewan bone mineral accrual study", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 14, pp. 1672-1679.

Baroncelli, G.I., Bertelloni, S., Ceccarelli, C., Cupelli, D. & Saggese, G. 2000, "Dynamics of bone turnover in children with GH deficiency treated with GH until final height", European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies, vol. 142, no. 6, pp. 549-556.

Baroncelli, G.I. & Saggese, G. 2005, "Effect of GH treatment on bone mass in children with GH deficiency", Journal of endocrinological investigation, vol. 28, no. 10 Suppl, pp. 23-27.

Bass, S., Delmas, P.D., Pearce, G., Hendrich, E., Tabensky, A. & Seeman, E. 1999, "The differing tempo of growth in bone size, mass, and density in girls is region-specific", The Journal of clinical investigation, vol. 104, no. 6, pp. 795-804.

Baxter-Jones, A.D., Kontulainen, S.A., Faulkner, R.A. & Bailey, D.A. 2008, "A longitudinal study of the relationship of physical activity to bone mineral accrual from adolescence to young adulthood", Bone, vol. 43, no. 6, pp. 1101-1107.

Berntson, L., Andersson Gare, B., Fasth, A., Herlin, T., Kristinsson, J., Lahdenne, P., Marhaug, G., Nielsen, S., Pelkonen, P., Rygg, M. & Nordic Study Group. 2003, "Incidence of juvenile idiopathic arthritis in the Nordic countries. A population based study with special reference to the validity of the ILAR and EULAR criteria", The Journal of rheumatology, vol. 30, pp. 2275-2282.

Bertelloni, S., Baroncelli, G.I., Battini, R., Perri, G. & Saggese, G. 1995, "Shortterm effect of testosterone treatment on reduced bone density in boys with constitutional delay of puberty", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 10, no. 10, pp. 1488-1495.

Bianchi, M.L. 2007, "Osteoporosis in children and adolescents", Bone, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 486-495.

Bischoff-Ferrari, H.A., Giovannucci, E., Willett, W.C., Dietrich, T. & Dawson-Hughes, B. 2006, "Estimation of optimal serum concentrations of 25-hydroxyvitamin D for multiple health outcomes", The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, vol. 84, no. 1, pp. 18-28.

Bishop, N. 1999, "Rickets today--children still need milk and sunshine", The New England journal of medicine, vol. 341, no. 8, pp. 602-604.

Bjoro, K., Brandsaeter, B., Wiencke, K., Bjoro, T., Godang, K., Bollerslev, J. & Schrumpf, E. 2003, "Secondary osteoporosis in liver transplant recipients: a longitudinal study in patients with and without cholestatic liver disease", Scandinavian journal of gastroenterology, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 320-327.

Bonewald, L.F. 2004, "Osteocyte biology: its implications for osteoporosis", Journal of Musculoskeletal & Neuronal Interactions, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 101-104.

Bonewald, L.F. & Johnson, M.L. 2008, "Osteocytes, mechanosensing and Wnt signaling", Bone, vol. 42, no. 4, pp. 606-615.

Bonjour, J.P., Theintz, G., Buchs, B., Slosman, D. & Rizzoli, R. 1991, "Critical years and stages of puberty for spinal and femoral bone mass accumulation during adolescence", The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism, vol. 73, no. 3, pp. 555-563.

Bonjour, J.P., Theintz, G., Law, F., Slosman, D. & Rizzoli, R. 1994, "Peak bone mass", Osteoporosis international : a journal established as result of cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA, vol. 4 Suppl 1, pp. 7-13.

Boot, A.M., Engels, M.A., Boerma, G.J., Krenning, E.P. & De Muinck Keizer-Schrama, S.M. 1997, "Changes in bone mineral density, body composition, and lipid metabolism during growth hormone (GH) treatment in children with GH deficiency", The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism, vol. 82, no. 8, pp. 2423-2428.

Boyce, B.F. & Xing, L. 2008, "Functions of RANKL/RANK/OPG in bone modeling and remodeling", Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, vol. 473, no. 2, pp. 139-146.

Boyle, W.J., Simonet, W.S. & Lacey, D.L. 2003, "Osteoclast differentiation and activation", Nature, vol. 423, no. 6937, pp. 337-342.

Brown E.M. & Juppner H. 2006, "Parathyroid hormone: Synthesis, secretion, and action", in Primer on the Metabolic Bone Diseases and Disorders of Mineral Metabolism, Sixth edn, Washington, D.C., the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, pp. 90-99.

Bryer, H.P., Isserow, J.A., Armstrong, E.C., Mann, G.N., Rucinski, B., Buchinsky, F.J., Romero, D.F. & Epstein, S. 1995, "Azathioprine alone is bone sparing and does not alter cyclosporin A-induced osteopenia in the rat", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 132-138.

Bucay, N., Sarosi, I., Dunstan, C.R., Morony, S., Tarpley, J., Capparelli, C., Scully, S., Tan, H.L., Xu, W., Lacey, D.L., Boyle, W.J. & Simonet, W.S. 1998, "Osteoprotegerin-Deficient Mice Develop Early Onset Osteoporosis and Arterial Calcification", Genes & development, vol. 12, no. 9, pp. 1260-1268.

Burnham, J.M., Shults, J., Weinstein, R., Lewis, J.D. & Leonard, M.B. 2006a, "Childhood onset arthritis is associated with an increased risk of fracture: a population based study using the General Practice Research Database", Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases, vol. 65, no. 8, pp. 1074-1079. Burnham, J.M., Shults, J., Sembhi, H., Zemel, B.S. & Leonard, M.B. 2006b, "The dysfunctional muscle-bone unit in juvenile idiopathic arthritis", Journal of Musculoskeletal & Neuronal Interactions, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 351-352.

Cameron, M.A., Paton, L.M., Nowson, C.A., Margerison, C., Frame, M. & Wark, J.D. 2004, "The effect of calcium supplementation on bone density in premenarcheal females: a co-twin approach", The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism, vol. 89, no. 10, pp. 4916-4922.

Campbell, K.M., Yazigi, N., Ryckman, F.C., Alonso, M., Tiao, G., Balistreri, W.F., Atherton, H. & Bucuvalas, J.C. 2006, "High prevalence of renal dysfunction in long-term survivors after pediatric liver transplantation", The Journal of pediatrics, vol. 148, no. 4, pp. 475-480.

Canalis, E. & Giustina, A. 2001, "Glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis: summary of a workshop", The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism, vol. 86, no. 12, pp. 5681-5685.

Canalis, E. 2003, "Mechanisms of glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis", Current opinion in rheumatology, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 454-457.

Canalis, E., Mazziotti, G., Giustina, A. & Bilezikian, J.P. 2007, "Glucocorticoidinduced osteoporosis: pathophysiology and therapy", Osteoporosis international : a journal established as result of cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA, vol. 18, no. 10, pp. 1319-1328.

Carlini, R.G., Rojas, E., Weisinger, J.R., Lopez, M., Martinis, R., Arminio, A. & Bellorin-Font, E. 2000, "Bone disease in patients with long-term renal transplantation and normal renal function", American Journal of Kidney Diseases : The Official Journal of the National Kidney Foundation, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 160-166.

Celiker, R., Bal, S., Bakkaloglu, A., Ozaydin, E., Coskun, T., Cetin, A. & Dincer, F. 2003, "Factors playing a role in the development of decreased bone mineral density in juvenile chronic arthritis", Rheumatology international, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 127-129.

Chapurlat, R.D., Duboeuf, F., Marion-Audibert, H.O., Kalpakcioglu, B., Mitlak, B.H. & Delmas, P.D. 2006, "Effectiveness of instant vertebral assessment to detect prevalent vertebral fracture", Osteoporosis international : a journal established as result of cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA, vol. 17, no. 8, pp. 1189-1195.

Chesney, R.W., Rose, P.G. & Mazess, R.B. 1984, "Persistence of diminished bone mineral content following renal transplantation in childhood", Pediatrics, vol. 73, no. 4, pp. 459-466.

Cheung, M.S. & Glorieux, F.H. 2008, "Osteogenesis Imperfecta: update on presentation and management", Reviews in endocrine & metabolic disorders, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 153-160.

Cimaz, R. 2002, "Osteoporosis in childhood rheumatic diseases: prevention and therapy", Best Practice & Research in Clinical Rheumatology, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 397-409.

Clarke, B. 2008, "Normal bone anatomy and physiology", Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology : CJASN, vol. 3 Suppl 3, pp. S131-9.

Cohen, A., Addonizio, L.J., Lamour, J.M., Addesso, V., Staron, R.B., Gao, P. & Shane, E. 2005, "Osteoporosis in adult survivors of adolescent cardiac transplantation may be related to hyperparathyroidism, mild renal insufficiency, and increased bone turnover", The Journal of heart and lung transplantation : the official publication of the International Society for Heart Transplantation, vol. 24, no. 6, pp. 696-702.

Compston, J.E. 2001, "Sex steroids and bone", Physiological Reviews, vol. 81, no. 1, pp. 419-447.

Cooper, C., Coupland, C. & Mitchell, M. 1995, "Rheumatoid arthritis, corticosteroid therapy and hip fracture", Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases, vol. 54, no. 1, pp. 49-52.

Cooper, M.S. 2004, "Sensitivity of bone to glucocorticoids", Clinical science (London, England : 1979), vol. 107, no. 2, pp. 111-123.

Courteix, D., Lespessailles, E., Peres, S.L., Obert, P., Germain, P. & Benhamou, C.L. 1998, "Effect of physical training on bone mineral density in prepubertal girls: a comparative study between impact-loading and non-impact-loading sports", Osteoporosis international : a journal established as result of cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 152-158.

Courteix, D., Jaffre, C., Lespessailles, E. & Benhamou, L. 2005, "Cumulative effects of calcium supplementation and physical activity on bone accretion in premenarchal children: a double-blind randomised placebo-controlled trial", International Journal of Sports Medicine, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 332-338.
Cranney, A.B., McKendry, R.J., Wells, G.A., Ooi, D.S., Kanigsberg, N.D., Kraag, G.R. & Smith, C.D. 2001, "The effect of low dose methotrexate on bone density", Journal of Rheumatology, vol. 28, no. 11, pp. 2395-2399.

Cruz, D.N., Brickel, H.M., Wysolmerski, J.J., Gundberg, C.G., Simpson, C.A., Kliger, A.S., Lorber, M.I., Basadonna, G.P., Friedman, A.L., Insogna, K.L. & Bia, M.J. 2002, "Treatment of osteoporosis and osteopenia in long-term renal transplant patients with alendronate", American journal of transplantation : official journal of the American Society of Transplantation and the American Society of Transplant Surgeons, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 62-67.

Cueto-Manzano, A.M., Konel, S., Crowley, V., France, M.W., Freemont, A.J., Adams, J.E., Mawer, B., Gokal, R. & Hutchison, A.J. 2003, "Bone histopathology and densitometry comparison between cyclosporine a monotherapy and prednisolone plus azathioprine dual immunosuppression in renal transplant patients", Transplantation, vol. 75, no. 12, pp. 2053-2058.

Cushing, H. 1932, "The basophil adenomas of the pituitary body and their clinical manifestations (pituitary basophilism).", Bull Johns Hopkins Hosp., vol. 50, pp. 137-195.

Dalle Carbonare, L., Arlot, M.E., Chavassieux, P.M., Roux, J.P., Portero, N.R. & Meunier, P.J. 2001, "Comparison of trabecular bone microarchitecture and remodeling in glucocorticoid-induced and postmenopausal osteoporosis", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 97-103.

Dalle Carbonare, L., Bertoldo, F., Valenti, M.T., Zenari, S., Zanatta, M., Sella, S., Giannini, S. & Cascio, V.L. 2005, "Histomorphometric analysis of glucocorticoidinduced osteoporosis", Micron (Oxford, England : 1993), vol. 36, no. 7-8, pp. 645-652.

Damiano, J., Kolta, S., Porcher, R., Tournoux, C., Dougados, M. & Roux, C. 2006, "Diagnosis of vertebral fractures by vertebral fracture assessment", Journal of clinical densitometry : the official journal of the International Society for Clinical Densitometry, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 66-71.

Dawson-Hughes, B., Heaney, R.P., Holick, M.F., Lips, P., Meunier, P.J. & Vieth, R. 2005, "Estimates of optimal vitamin D status", Osteoporosis international : a journal established as result of cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA, vol. 16, no. 7, pp. 713-716.

Dawson-Hughes, B. & Bischoff-Ferrari, H.A. 2007, "Therapy of osteoporosis with calcium and vitamin D", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 22 Suppl 2, pp. V59-63.

Deeb, K.K, Trump, D.L. & Johnson, C.S. 2007, "Vitamin D signalling pathways in cancer: potential for anticancer therapeutics", Nature Reviews Cancer, vol. 7, no. 9, pp. 684-700.

Demster, D.W. 2006, Anatomy and Functions of the Adult skeleton in Primer on the Metabolic Bone Diseases and Disorders of Mineral Metabolism, Sixth edn, The American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, Washington D.C. pp. 7-11.

DENT, C.E. & FRIEDMAN, M. 1965, "Idiopathic Juvenile Osteoporosis", The Quarterly journal of medicine, vol. 34, pp. 177-210.

Dent, C.E. 1977, "Osteoporosis in childhood", Postgraduate medical journal, vol. 53, no. 622, pp. 450-457.

Dequeker, J., Nijs, J., Verstraeten, A., Geusens, P. & Gevers, G. 1987, "Genetic determinants of bone mineral content at the spine and radius: a twin study", Bone, vol. 8, no. 4, pp. 207-209.

Diem, H.V., Evrard, V., Vinh, H.T., Sokal, E.M., Janssen, M., Otte, J.B. & Reding, R. 2003, "Pediatric liver transplantation for biliary atresia: results of primary grafts in 328 recipients", Transplantation, vol. 75, no. 10, pp. 1692-1697.

Dissanayake, I.R., Goodman, G.R., Bowman, A.R., Ma, Y., Pun, S., Jee, W.S. & Epstein, S. 1998, "Mycophenolate mofetil: a promising new immunosuppressant that does not cause bone loss in the rat", Transplantation, vol. 65, no. 2, pp. 275-278.

Durieux, S., Mercadal, L., Orcel, P., Dao, H., Rioux, C., Bernard, M., Rozenberg, S., Barrou, B., Bourgeois, P., Deray, G. & Bagnis, C.I. 2002, "Bone mineral density and fracture prevalence in long-term kidney graft recipients", Transplantation, vol. 74, no. 4, pp. 496-500.

Eisman, J.A. 1999, "Genetics of osteoporosis", Endocrine reviews, vol. 20, no. 6, pp. 788-804.

el-Husseini, A.A., el-Agroudy, A.E., Wafa, E.W., Mohsen, T., Sobh, M.A. & Ghoneim, M.A. 2004, "Bone mineral density in live related kidney transplant children and adolescents", International Urology & Nephrology, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 95-100.

Ellis, E.N., Floyd-Gimon, D.M., Berry, P.L., Wells, T.G., Seibert, J. & Belsha, C. 2000, "Risk factors for bone mineral density loss in pediatric renal transplant patients", Pediatric transplantation, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 146-150.

Ellis, K.J., Shypailo, R.J., Hardin, D.S., Perez, M.D., Motil, K.J., Wong, W.W. & Abrams, S.A. 2001, "Z score prediction model for assessment of bone mineral content in pediatric diseases", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 16, no. 9, pp. 1658-1664.

Elsasser, U., Wilkins, B., Hesp, R., Thurnham, D.I., Reeve, J. & Ansell, B.M. 1982, "Bone rarefaction and crush fractures in juvenile chronic arthritis", Archives of Disease in Childhood, vol. 57, no. 5, pp. 377-380.

Epstein, S. 1996, "Post-transplantation bone disease: the role of immunosuppressive agents and the skeleton", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 1-7.

Feber, J., Cochat, P., Braillon, P., Castelo, F., Martin, X., Glastre, C., Chapuis, F., David, L. & Meunier, P.J. 1994, "Bone mineral density after renal transplantation in children", The Journal of pediatrics, vol. 125, no. 6 Pt 1, pp. 870-875.

Feng, X. 2005, "Regulatory roles and molecular signaling of TNF family members in osteoclasts, Gene, vol. 350, no. 1, pp. 1-13.

Ferrari, S., Rizzoli, R., Slosman, D. & Bonjour, J.P. 1998, "Familial resemblance for bone mineral mass is expressed before puberty", The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism, vol. 83, no. 2, pp. 358-361.

Finkelstein, J.S., Neer, R.M., Biller, B.M., Crawford, J.D. & Klibanski, A. 1992, "Osteopenia in men with a history of delayed puberty", The New England journal of medicine, vol. 326, no. 9, pp. 600-604.

Flynn, J., Foley, S. & Jones, G. 2007, "Can BMD assessed by DXA at age 8 predict fracture risk in boys and girls during puberty?: an eight-year prospective study", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 22, no. 9, pp. 1463-1467.

Foster, B.J., Shults, J., Zemel, B.S. & Leonard, M.B. 2004, "Interactions between growth and body composition in children treated with high-dose chronic glucocorticoids", The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, vol. 80, no. 5, pp. 1334-1341. French, A.R., Mason, T., Nelson, A.M., Crowson, C.S., O'Fallon, W.M., Khosla, S. & Gabriel, S.E. 2002, "Osteopenia in adults with a history of juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. A population based study", Journal of Rheumatology, vol. 29, no. 5, pp. 1065-1070.

Frost, H.M. & Schonau, E. 2000, "The "muscle-bone unit" in children and adolescents: a 2000 overview", Journal of pediatric endocrinology & metabolism : JPEM, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 571-590.

Gallacher, S.J., Gallagher, A.P., McQuillian, C., Mitchell, P.J. & Dixon, T. 2007, "The prevalence of vertebral fracture amongst patients presenting with nonvertebral fractures", Osteoporosis international : a journal established as result of cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 185-192.

Gare, B.A. & Fasth, A. 1992, "Epidemiology of juvenile chronic arthritis in southwestern Sweden: a 5-year prospective population study", Pediatrics, vol. 90, no. 6, pp. 950-958.

Gasser, R.W. 2008, "Cholestasis and metabolic bone disease - a clinical review", Wiener medizinische Wochenschrift (1946), vol. 158, no. 19-20, pp. 553-557.

Gennari, L., Becherini, L., Falchetti, A., Masi, L., Massart, F. & Brandi, M.L. 2002, "Genetics of osteoporosis: role of steroid hormone receptor gene polymorphisms", The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology, vol. 81, no. 1, pp. 1-24.

Giustina, A., Mazziotti, G. & Canalis, E. 2008, "Growth hormone, insulin-like growth factors, and the skeleton", Endocrine reviews, vol. 29, no. 5, pp. 535-559.

Glendenning, P., Kent, G.N., Adler, B.D., Matz, L., Watson, I., O'Driscoll, G.J. & Hurley, D.M. 1999, "High prevalence of osteoporosis in cardiac transplant recipients and discordance between biochemical turnover markers and bone histomorphometry", Clinical endocrinology, vol. 50, no. 3, pp. 347-355.

Glorieux, F.H. 2008, "Osteogenesis imperfecta", Best practice & research.Clinical rheumatology, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 85-100.

Goksen, D., Darcan, S., Kara, P., Mir, S., Coker, M. & Kabasakal, C. 2005, "Bone mineral density in pediatric and adolescent renal transplant patients: how to evaluate", Pediatric transplantation, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 464-469.

Gordon, C.M., Bachrach, L.K., Carpenter, T.O., Crabtree, N., El-Hajj Fuleihan, G., Kutilek, S., Lorenc, R.S., Tosi, L.L., Ward, K.A., Ward, L.M. & Kalkwarf, H.J. 2008, "Dual energy X-ray absorptiometry interpretation and reporting in children and adolescents: the 2007 ISCD Pediatric Official Positions", Journal of clinical densitometry : the official journal of the International Society for Clinical Densitometry, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 43-58.

Goulding, A., Cannan, R., Williams, S.M., Gold, E.J., Taylor, R.W. & Lewis-Barned, N.J. 1998, "Bone mineral density in girls with forearm fractures", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 143-148.

Goulding, A., Jones, I.E., Taylor, R.W., Manning, P.J. & Williams, S.M. 2000, "More broken bones: a 4-year double cohort study of young girls with and without distal forearm fractures", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 15, no. 10, pp. 2011-2018.

Gravallese, E.M. 2002, "Bone destruction in arthritis. Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases, vol. 61, no. Suppl 2, pp. 84-86.

Greulich, W.W. & and Pyle, S.I. 1959, Radiographic Atlas of the Skeletal Development of the Hand and Wrist, 2nd edn, Stanford Univ. Press., Palo Alto, CA.

Grotz, W.H., Mundinger, F.A., Rasenack, J., Speidel, L., Olschewski, M., Exner, V.M. & Schollmeyer, P.J. 1995, "Bone loss after kidney transplantation: a longitudinal study in 115 graft recipients", Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association -European Renal Association, vol. 10, no. 11, pp. 2096-2100.

Guichelaar, M.M., Malinchoc, M., Sibonga, J., Clarke, B.L. & Hay, J.E. 2004, "Immunosuppressive and postoperative effects of orthotopic liver transplantation on bone metabolism", Liver Transplantation : official publication of the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases and the International Liver Transplantation Society, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 638-647.

Guichelaar, M.M., Kendall, R., Malinchoc, M. & Hay, J.E. 2006, "Bone mineral density before and after OLT: long-term follow-up and predictive factors", Liver Transplantation : official publication of the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases and the International Liver Transplantation Society, vol. 12, no. 9, pp. 1390-1402.

Guthery, S.L., Pohl, J.F., Bucuvalas, J.C., Alonso, M.H., Ryckman, F.C., Balistreri, W.F. & Heubi, J.E. 2003, "Bone mineral density in long-term survivors following pediatric liver transplantation", Liver Transplantation : official publication of the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases and the International Liver Transplantation Society, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 365-370.

Haapasalo, H., Kannus, P., Sievänen, H., Pasanen, M., Uusi-Rasi, K., Heinonen, A., Oja, P. & Vuori, I. 1998, "Effect of long-term unilateral activity on bone mineral density of female junior tennis players", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 310-319.

Hamburg, S.M., Piers, D.A., van den Berg, A.P., Slooff, M.J. & Haagsma, E.B. 2000, "Bone mineral density in the long term after liver transplantation", Osteoporosis International, vol. 11, no. 7, pp. 600-606.

Harada, S. & Rodan, G.A. 2003, "Control of osteoblast function and regulation of bone mass", Nature, vol. 423, no. 6937, pp. 349-355.

Hardinger, K.L., Ho, B., Schnitzler, M.A., Desai, N., Lowell, J., Shenoy, S., Chapman, W. & Crippin, J.S. 2003, "Serial measurements of bone density at the lumbar spine do not predict fracture risk after liver transplantation", Liver Transplantation : official publication of the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases and the International Liver Transplantation Society, vol. 9, no. 8, pp. 857-862.

Hartikka, H., Mäkitie, O., Männikko, M., Doria, A.S., Daneman, A., Cole, W.G., Ala-Kokko, L. & Sochett, E.B. 2005, "Heterozygous mutations in the LDL receptor-related protein 5 (LRP5) gene are associated with primary osteoporosis in children", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 20, no. 5, pp. 783-789.

Hasselstrom, H., Karlsson, K.M., Hansen, S.E., Gronfeldt, V., Froberg, K. & Andersen, L.B. 2007, "Peripheral bone mineral density and different intensities of physical activity in children 6-8 years old: the Copenhagen School Child Intervention study", Calcified tissue international, vol. 80, no. 1, pp. 31-38.

Haugeberg, G., Orstavik, R.E. & Kvien, T.K. 2003, "Effects of rheumatoid arthritis on bone. Current opinion in rheumatology, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 469-475.

Heaney, R.P., Abrams, S., Dawson-Hughes, B., Looker, A., Marcus, R., Matkovic, V. & Weaver, C. 2000, "Peak bone mass", Osteoporosis international : a journal established as result of cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA, vol. 11, no. 12, pp. 985-1009. Heaney, R.P., Dowell, M.S., Hale, C.A. & Bendich, A. 2003, "Calcium absorption varies within the reference range for serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D", Journal of the American College of Nutrition, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 142-146.

Heaney, R.P. 2007, "Bone health", The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, vol. 85, no. 1, pp. 300S-303S.

Helenius, I., Jalanko, H., Remes, V., Sairanen, H., Salminen, S., Holmberg, C., Palmu, P., Tervahartiala, P., Valta, H., Sarna, S., Helenius, M., Makitie, O. & Peltonen, J. 2006a, "Scoliosis after solid organ transplantation in children and adolescents", American journal of transplantation : official journal of the American Society of Transplantation and the American Society of Transplantation Surgeons, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 324-330.

Helenius, I., Remes, V., Tervahartiala, P., Salminen, S., Sairanen, H., Holmberg, C., Palmu, P., Helenius, M., Peltonen, J. & Jalanko, H. 2006b, "Spine after solid organ transplantation in childhood: a clinical, radiographic, and magnetic resonance imaging analysis of 40 patients", Spine, vol. 31, no. 18, pp. 2130-2136.

Hill, S.A., Kelly, D.A. & John, P.R. 1995, "Bone fractures in children undergoing orthotopic liver transplantation", Pediatric radiology, vol. 25 Suppl 1, pp. S112-7.

Hillman, L.S., Cassidy, J.T., Chanetsa, F., Hewett, J.E., Higgins, B.J. & Robertson, J.D. 2008, "Percent true calcium absorption, mineral metabolism, and bone mass in children with arthritis: effect of supplementation with vitamin D3 and calcium", Arthritis and Rheumatism, vol. 58, no. 10, pp. 3255-3263.

Hiraoka, M., Tsukahara, H., Matsubara, K., Tsurusawa, M., Takeda, N., Haruki, S., Hayashi, S., Ohta, K., Momoi, T., Ohshima, Y., Suganuma, N., Mayumi, M. & West Japan Cooperative Study Group of Kidney Disease in Children. 2003, "A randomized study of two long-course prednisolone regimens for nephrotic syndrome in children", American Journal of Kidney Diseases : The Official Journal of the National Kidney Foundation, vol. 41, no. 6, pp. 1155-1162.

Hofbauer, L.C., Gori, F., Riggs, B.L., Lacey, D.L., Dunstan, C.R., Spelsberg, T.C. & Khosla, S. 1999, "Stimulation of osteoprotegerin ligand and inhibition of osteoprotegerin production by glucocorticoids in human osteoblastic lineage cells: potential paracrine mechanisms of glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis", Endocrinology, vol. 140, no. 10, pp. 4382-4389.

Hofbauer, L.C. & Schoppet, M. 2004, "Clinical implications of the osteoprotegerin/RANKL/RANK system for bone and vascular diseases", JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association, vol. 292, no. 4, pp. 490-495. Holick, M.F. 2003, "Vitamin D: A millenium perspective", Journal of cellular biochemistry, vol. 88, no. 2, pp. 296-307.

Holick, M.F. 2007, "Vitamin D deficiency", The New England journal of medicine, vol. 357, no. 3, pp. 266-281.

Häkkinen, A., Sokka, T., Kautiainen, H., Kotaniemi, A. & Hannonen, P. 2004, "Sustained maintenance of exercise induced muscle strength gains and normal bone mineral density in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis: a 5 year follow up", Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases, vol. 63, no. 8, pp. 910-916.

Högler, W., Briody, J., Woodhead, H.J., Chan, A. & Cowell, C.T. 2003, "Importance of lean mass in the interpretation of total body densitometry in children and adolescents", The Journal of pediatrics, vol. 143, no. 1, pp. 81-88.

Ichiseki, T., Kaneuji, A., Katsuda, S., Ueda, Y., Sugimori, T. & Matsumoto, T. 2005, "DNA oxidation injury in bone early after steroid administration is involved in the pathogenesis of steroid-induced osteonecrosis", Rheumatology (Oxford, England), vol. 44, no. 4, pp. 456-460.

Jabs, K., Sullivan, E.K., Avner, E.D. & Harmon, W.E. 1996, "Alternate-day steroid dosing improves growth without adversely affecting graft survival or longterm graft function. A report of the North American Pediatric Renal Transplant Cooperative Study", Transplantation, vol. 61, no. 1, pp. 31-36.

Jackman, L.A., Millane, S.S., Martin, B.R., Wood, O.B., McCabe, G.P., Peacock, M. & Weaver, C.M. 1997, "Calcium retention in relation to calcium intake and postmenarcheal age in adolescent females", The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, vol. 66, no. 2, pp. 327-333.

Jones, G., Riley, M.D. & Dwyer, T. 2000, "Maternal diet during pregnancy is associated with bone mineral density in children: a longitudinal study", European journal of clinical nutrition, vol. 54, no. 10, pp. 749-756.

Josephson, M.A., Schumm, L.P., Chiu, M.Y., Marshall, C., Thistlethwaite, J.R. & Sprague, S.M. 2004, "Calcium and calcitriol prophylaxis attenuates posttransplant bone loss", Transplantation, vol. 78, no. 8, pp. 1233-1236.

Kalkwarf, H.J., Zemel, B.S., Gilsanz, V., Lappe, J.M., Horlick, M., Oberfield, S., Mahboubi, S., Fan, B., Frederick, M.M., Winer, K. & Shepherd, J.A. 2007, "The bone mineral density in childhood study: bone mineral content and density according to age, sex, and race", The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism, vol. 92, no. 6, pp. 2087-2099.

Kamioka, H., Honjo, T. & Takano-Yamamoto, T. 2001, "A three-dimensional distribution of osteocyte processes revealed by the combination of confocal laser scanning microscopy and differential interference contrast microscopy", Bone, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 145-149.

Kanis, J.A. 2000, "An update on the diagnosis of osteoporosis", Current rheumatology reports, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 62-66.

Kanis, J.A., Johansson, H., Oden, A., Johnell, O., de Laet, C., Melton III, L.J., Tenenhouse, A., Reeve, J., Silman, A.J., Pols, H.A., Eisman, J.A., McCloskey, E.V. & Mellstrom, D. 2004, "A meta-analysis of prior corticosteroid use and fracture risk", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 19, no. 6, pp. 893-899.

Kardinaal, A.F., Ando, S., Charles, P., Charzewska, J., Rotily, M., Vaananen, K., Van Erp-Baart, A.M., Heikkinen, J., Thomsen, J., Maggiolini, M., Deloraine, A., Chabros, E., Juvin, R. & Schaafsma, G. 1999, "Dietary calcium and bone density in adolescent girls and young women in Europe", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 583-592.

Karlsson, M.K., Moller, A., Hasserius, R., Besjakov, J., Karlsson, C. & Ohlin, A. 2003, "A modeling capacity of vertebral fractures exists during growth: an up-to-47-year follow-up", Spine, vol. 28, no. 18, pp. 2087-2092.

Kato, T., Yamashita, T., Mizutani, S., Honda, A., Matumoto, M. & Umemura, Y. 2009, "Adolescent exercise associated with long-term superior measures of bone geometry: A cross-sectional DXA and MRI study", British journal of sports medicine, Jan 5. [Epub ahead of print]

Kayler, L.K., Merion, R.M., Lee, S., Sung, R.S., Punch, J.D., Rudich, S.M., Turcotte, J.G., Campbell, D.A., Jr, Holmes, R. & Magee, J.C. 2002, "Long-term survival after liver transplantation in children with metabolic disorders", Pediatric transplantation, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 295-300.

Khan, K., Raatz, S. & Sharp, H. 2006, "Bone mineral density in adults transplanted in childhood for liver disease", Transplantation proceedings, vol. 38, no. 5, pp. 1453-1455.

Khosla, S., Melton, L.J., 3rd & Riggs, B.L. 2002, "Clinical review 144: Estrogen and the male skeleton", The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism, vol. 87, no. 4, pp. 1443-1450.

Klaus, G., Paschen, C., Wuster, C., Kovacs, G.T., Barden, J., Mehls, O. & Scharer, K. 1998, "Weight-/height-related bone mineral density is not reduced after renal transplantation", Pediatric nephrology (Berlin, Germany), vol. 12, no. 5, pp. 343-348.

Klaus, G., Watson, A., Edefonti, A., Fischbach, M., Ronnholm, K., Schaefer, F., Simkova, E., Stefanidis, C.J., Strazdins, V., Vande Walle, J., Schroder, C., Zurowska, A., Ekim, M. & European Pediatric Dialysis Working Group (EPDWG) 2006, "Prevention and treatment of renal osteodystrophy in children on chronic renal failure: European guidelines", Pediatric nephrology (Berlin, Germany), vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 151-159.

Kröger, H., Kotaniemi, A., Kröger, L. & Alhava, E. 1993, "Development of bone mass and bone density of the spine and femoral neck--a prospective study of 65 children and adolescents", Bone and mineral, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 171-182.

Lahdenne, P., Vähäsalo, P. & Honkanen, V. 2003, "Infliximab or etanercept in the treatment of children with refractory juvenile idiopathic arthritis: an open label study", Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases, vol. 62, no. 3, pp. 245-247.

Lange, U., Teichmann, J., Muller-Ladner, U. & Strunk, J. 2005, "Increase in bone mineral density of patients with rheumatoid arthritis treated with anti-TNFalpha antibody: a prospective open-label pilot study", Rheumatology (Oxford, England), vol. 44, no. 12, pp. 1546-1548.

Lauridsen, A.L., Vestergaard, P., Hermann, A.P., Brot, C., Heickendorff, L., Mosekilde, L. & Nexo, E. 2005, "Plasma concentrations of 25-hydroxy-vitamin D and 1,25-dihydroxy-vitamin D are related to the phenotype of Gc (vitamin D-binding protein): a cross-sectional study on 595 early postmenopausal women", Calcified tissue international, vol. 77, no. 1, pp. 15-22.

Lehtonen-Veromaa, M., Möttonen, T., Nuotio, I., Irjala, K. & Viikari, J. 2002, "The effect of conventional vitamin D(2) supplementation on serum 25(OH) D concentration is weak among peripubertal Finnish girls: a 3-y prospective study", European journal of clinical nutrition, vol. 56, no. 5, pp. 431-437.

Leidig-Bruckner, G., Hosch, S., Dodidou, P., Ritschel, D., Conradt, C., Klose, C., Otto, G., Lange, R., Theilmann, L., Zimmerman, R., Pritsch, M. & Ziegler, R. 2001, "Frequency and predictors of osteoporotic fractures after cardiac or liver transplantation: a follow-up study", Lancet, vol. 357, no. 9253, pp. 342-347.

Leonard, M.B. 2005, "Assessment of bone mass following renal transplantation in children", Pediatric nephrology (Berlin, Germany), vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 360-367. Lewiecki, E.M. & Laster, A.J. 2006, "Clinical review: Clinical applications of vertebral fracture assessment by dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry", The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism, vol. 91, no. 11, pp. 4215-4222.

Lien, G., Flato, B., Haugen, M., Vinje, O., Sorskaar, D., Dale, K., Johnston, V., Egeland, T. & Forre, O. 2003, "Frequency of osteopenia in adolescents with early-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a long-term outcome study of one hundred five patients.[see comment]", Arthritis & Rheumatism, vol. 48, no. 8, pp. 2214-2223.

Lindehammar, H. & Lindvall, B. 2004, "Muscle involvement in juvenile idiopathic arthritis", Rheumatology, vol. 43, no. 12, pp. 1546-1554.

Lips, P. 2006, "Vitamin D physiology", Progress in biophysics and molecular biology, vol. 92, no. 1, pp. 4-8.

Mandel, K., Atkinson, S., Barr, R.D. & Pencharz, P. 2004, "Skeletal morbidity in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia", Journal of Clinical Oncology, vol. 22, no. 7, pp. 1215-1221.

Mankin, H.J. 1992, "Nontraumatic necrosis of bone (osteonecrosis)", The New England journal of medicine, vol. 326, no. 22, pp. 1473-1479.

Manolagas, S.C. 2000, "Corticosteroids and fractures: a close encounter of the third cell kind", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 15, no. 6, pp. 1001-1005.

Marshall, D., Johnell, O. & Wedel, H. 1996, "Meta-analysis of how well measures of bone mineral density predict occurrence of osteoporotic fractures", BMJ (Clinical research ed.), vol. 312, no. 7041, pp. 1254-1259.

Matkovic, V. & Heaney, R.P. 1992, "Calcium balance during human growth: evidence for threshold behavior", The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, vol. 55, no. 5, pp. 992-996.

Matsuda, S., Shibasaki, F., Takehana, K., Mori, H., Nishida, E. & Koyasu, S. 2000, "Two distinct action mechanisms of immunophilin-ligand complexes for the blockade of T-cell activation", EMBO reports, vol. 1, no. 5, pp. 428-434.

Mazziotti, G., Angeli, A., Bilezikian, J.P., Canalis, E. & Giustina, A. 2006, "Glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis: an update", Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 144-149. Misra, M., Pagaud D., Petryk A., Collett-Sohlberg, P. & Kappy, M. 2008, "Vitamin D deficiency in children and its management: Review of current knowledge and recommendations", Pediatrics, vol 122, no. 2, pp. 398-417.

Moe, N. & Rygg, M. 1998, "Epidemiology of juvenile chronic arthritis in northern Norway: a ten-year retrospective study", Clinical and experimental rheumatology, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 99-101.

Moe, S., Drueke, T., Cunningham, J., Goodman, W., Martin, K., Olgaard, K., Ott, S., Sprague, S., Lameire, N., Eknoyan, G. & Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) 2006, "Definition, evaluation, and classification of renal osteodystrophy: a position statement from Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO)", Kidney international, vol. 69, no. 11, pp. 1945-1953.

Movsowitz, C., Epstein, S., Ismail, F., Fallon, M. & Thomas, S. 1989, "Cyclosporin A in the oophorectomized rat: unexpected severe bone resorption", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 393-398.

Murphy, S., Khaw, K.T., May, H. & Compston, J.E. 1994, "Milk consumption and bone mineral density in middle aged and elderly women", BMJ (Clinical research ed.), vol. 308, no. 6934, pp. 939-941.

Mäkitie, O., Doria, A.S., Henriques, F., Cole, W.G., Compeyrot, S., Silverman, E., Laxer, R., Daneman, A. & Sochett, E.B. 2005, "Radiographic vertebral morphology: a diagnostic tool in pediatric osteoporosis", The Journal of pediatrics, vol. 146, no. 3, pp. 395-401.

Mäyränpää, M.K., Helenius, I., Valta, H., Mäyränpää, M.I., Toiviainen-Salo, S. & Mäkitie, O. 2007a, "Bone densitometry in the diagnosis of vertebral fractures in children: accuracy of vertebral fracture assessment", Bone, vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 353-359.

National Nutrition Council. Recommended Nutritional Dietary Allowances. 2005, , Valtionpainatuskeskus, Helsinki.

Neer, R.M., Arnaud, C.D., Zanchetta, J.R., Prince, R., Gaich, G.A., Reginster, J.Y., Hodsman, A.B., Eriksen, E.F., Ish-Shalom, S., Genant, H.K., Wang, O. & Mitlak, B.H. 2001, "Effect of parathyroid hormone (1-34) on fractures and bone mineral density in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis", The New England journal of medicine, vol. 344, no. 19, pp. 1434-1441.

Nelson, D.A., Simpson, P.M., Johnson, C.C., Barondess, D.A. & Kleerekoper, M. 1997, "The accumulation of whole body skeletal mass in third- and fourth-grade children: effects of age, gender, ethnicity, and body composition", Bone, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 73-78.

Nguyen, T.V., Maynard, L.M., Towne, B., Roche, A.F., Wisemandle, W., Li, J., Guo, S.S., Chumlea, W.C. & Siervogel, R.M. 2001, "Sex differences in bone mass acquisition during growth: the Fels Longitudinal Study", Journal of clinical densitometry : the official journal of the International Society for Clinical Densitometry, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 147-157.

NIH Consensus Statement. Osteoporosis Prevention, Diagnosis, and Therapy. 2000, , Baltimore, MH.

Ninik, A., McTaggart, S.J., Gulati, S., Powell, H.R., Jones, C.L. & Walker, R.G. 2002, "Factors influencing growth and final height after renal transplantation", Pediatric transplantation, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 219-223.

Ninkovic, M., Skingle, S.J., Bearcroft, P.W., Bishop, N., Alexander, G.J. & Compston, J.E. 2000, "Incidence of vertebral fractures in the first three months after orthotopic liver transplantation", European journal of gastroenterology & hepatology, vol. 12, no. 8, pp. 931-935.

Nissel, R., Brazda, I., Feneberg, R., Wigger, M., Greiner, C., Querfeld, U. & Haffner, D. 2004, "Effect of renal transplantation in childhood on longitudinal growth and adult height", Kidney international, vol. 66, no. 2, pp. 792-800.

Nurmi-Lawton, J.A., Baxter-Jones, A.D., Mirwald, R.L., Bishop, J.A., Taylor, P., Cooper, C. & New, S.A. 2004, "Evidence of sustained skeletal benefits from impact-loading exercise in young females: a 3-year longitudinal study", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 314-322.

Offner, G., Latta, K., Hoyer, P.F., Baum, H.J., Ehrich, J.H., Pichlmayr, R. & Brodehl, J. 1999, "Kidney transplanted children come of age", Kidney international, vol. 55, no. 4, pp. 1509-1517.

Okajima, H., Shigeno, C., Inomata, Y., Egawa, H., Uemoto, S., Asonuma, K., Kiuchi, T., Konishi, J. & Tanaka, K. 2003, "Long-term effects of liver transplantation on bone mineral density in children with end-stage liver disease: a 2-year prospective study", Liver Transplantation : official publication of the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases and the International Liver Transplantation Society, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 360-364.

Pere, A. 2000, "Comparison of two methods for transforming height and weight to normality", Annals of Human Biology, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 35-45.

Pocock, N.A., Eisman, J.A., Hopper, J.L., Yeates, M.G., Sambrook, P.N. & Eberl, S. 1987, "Genetic determinants of bone mass in adults. A twin study", The Journal of clinical investigation, vol. 80, no. 3, pp. 706-710.

Potts, J.T. 2005, "Parathyroid hormone: past and present", The Journal of endocrinology, vol. 187, no. 3, pp. 311-325.

Qvist, E., Jalanko, H. & Holmberg, C. 2003, "Psychosocial adaptation after solid organ transplantation in children", Pediatric clinics of North America, vol. 50, no. 6, pp. 1505-1519.

Ramsey-Goldman, R., Dunn, J.E., Dunlop, D.D., Stuart, F.P., Abecassis, M.M., Kaufman, D.B., Langman, C.B., Salinger, M.H. & Sprague, S.M. 1999, "Increased risk of fracture in patients receiving solid organ transplants", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 456-463.

Rauch, F. & Glorieux, F.H. 2004, "Osteogenesis imperfecta", Lancet, vol. 363, no. 9418, pp. 1377-1385.

Rauch, F., Plotkin, H., DiMeglio, L., Engelbert, R.H., Henderson, R.C., Munns, C., Wenkert, D. & Zeitler, P. 2008, "Fracture prediction and the definition of osteoporosis in children and adolescents: the ISCD 2007 Pediatric Official Positions", Journal of clinical densitometry : the official journal of the International Society for Clinical Densitometry, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 22-28.

Ravelli, A. 2004, "Toward an understanding of the long-term outcome of juvenile idiopathic arthritis", Clinical and experimental rheumatology, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 271-275.

Reed, A., Haugen, M., Pachman, L.M. & Langman, C.B. 1991, "25-Hydroxyvitamin D therapy in children with active juvenile rheumatoid arthritis: short-term effects on serum osteocalcin levels and bone mineral density", The Journal of pediatrics, vol. 119, no. 4, pp. 657-660.

Riggs, B.L., Khosla, S. & Melton, L.J., 3rd 2002, "Sex steroids and the construction and conservation of the adult skeleton", Endocrine reviews, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 279-302.

Rodriguez-Garcia, M., Gomez-Alonso, C., Naves-Diaz, M., Diaz-Lopez, J.B., Diaz-Corte, C., Cannata-Andia, J.B. & Asturias Study Group 2009, "Vascular calcifications, vertebral fractures and mortality in haemodialysis patients", Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 239-246.

Romero, D.F., Buchinsky, F.J., Rucinski, B., Cvetkovic, M., Bryer, H.P., Liang, X.G., Ma, Y.F., Jee, W.S. & Epstein, S. 1995, "Rapamycin: a bone sparing immunosuppressant?", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 760-768.

Rosenthal, D.I., Mayo-Smith, W., Hayes, C.W., Khurana, J.S., Biller, B.M., Neer, R.M. & Klibanski, A. 1989, "Age and bone mass in premenopausal women", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 533-538.

Ruiz, J.C., Mandel, C. & Garabedian, M. 1995, "Influence of spontaneous calcium intake and physical exercise on the vertebral and femoral bone mineral density of children and adolescents", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 675-682.

Rusconi, R., Corona, F., Grassi, A. & Carnelli, V. 2003, "Age at menarche in juvenile rheumatoid arthritis", Journal of pediatric endocrinology & metabolism : JPEM, vol. 16 Suppl 2, pp. 285-288.

Saggese, G., Bertelloni, S. & Baroncelli, G.I. 1997, "Sex steroids and the acquisition of bone mass", Hormone research, vol. 48 Suppl 5, pp. 65-71.

Saidenberg-Kermanac'h, N., Corrado, A., Lemeiter, D., deVernejoul, M.C., Boissier, M.C. & Cohen-Solal, M.E. 2004, "TNF-alpha antibodies and osteoprotegerin decrease systemic bone loss associated with inflammation through distinct mechanisms in collagen-induced arthritis", Bone, vol. 35, no. 5, pp. 1200-1207.

Saland, J.M., Goode, M.L., Haas, D.L., Romano, T.A. & Seikaly, M.G. 2001, "The prevalence of osteopenia in pediatric renal allograft recipients varies with the method of analysis", American journal of transplantation : official journal of the American Society of Transplantation and the American Society of Transplant Surgeons, vol. 1, no. 3, pp. 243-250.

Sanchez, C.P., Salusky, I.B., Kuizon, B.D., Ramirez, J.A., Gales, B., Ettenger, R.B. & Goodman, W.G. 1998, "Bone disease in children and adolescents undergoing successful renal transplantation", Kidney international, vol. 53, no. 5, pp. 1358-1364.

Sanchez, C.P. 2008, "Mineral metabolism and bone abnormalities in children with chronic renal failure", Reviews in endocrine & metabolic disorders, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 131-137.

Sasaki, N., Kusano, E., Ando, Y., Yano, K., Tsuda, E. & Asano, Y. 2001, "Glucocorticoid decreases circulating osteoprotegerin (OPG): possible mechanism for glucocorticoid induced osteoporosis", Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 479-482. Segersten, U., Correa, P., Hewison, M., Hellman, P., Dralle, H., Carling, T., Åkerstrom, G. & Westin, G. 2002, "25-hydroxyvitamin D(3)-1alpha-hydroxylase expression in normal and pathological parathyroid glands", The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism, vol. 87, no. 6, pp. 2967-2972.

Seriolo, B., Paolino, S., Sulli, A., Ferretti, V. & Cutolo, M. 2006, "Bone metabolism changes during anti-TNF-alpha therapy in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis", Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, vol. 1069, pp. 420-427.

Simon, D., Fernando, C., Czernichow, P. & Prieur, A.M. 2002, "Linear growth and final height in patients with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis treated with longterm glucocorticoids", The Journal of rheumatology, vol. 29, no. 6, pp. 1296-1300.

Simonini, G., Giani, T., Stagi, S., de Martino, M. & Falcini, F. 2005, "Bone status over 1 yr of etanercept treatment in juvenile idiopathic arthritis", Rheumatology (Oxford, England), vol. 44, no. 6, pp. 777-780.

Skaggs, D.L., Loro, M.L., Pitukcheewanont, P., Tolo, V. & Gilsanz, V. 2001, "Increased body weight and decreased radial cross-sectional dimensions in girls with forearm fractures", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 16, no. 7, pp. 1337-1342.

Sochett, E.B. & Mäkitie, O. 2005, "Osteoporosis in chronically ill children", Annals of Medicine, vol. 37, no. 4, pp. 286-294.

Somjen, D., Weisman, Y., Kohen, F., Gayer, B., Limor, R., Sharon, O., Jaccard, N., Knoll, E. & Stern, N. 2005, "25-hydroxyvitamin D3-1alpha-hydroxylase is expressed in human vascular smooth muscle cells and is upregulated by parathyroid hormone and estrogenic compounds", Circulation, vol. 111, no. 13, pp. 1666-1671.

Soroko, S., Holbrook, T.L., Edelstein, S. & Barrett-Connor, E. 1994, "Lifetime milk consumption and bone mineral density in older women", American Journal of Public Health, vol. 84, no. 8, pp. 1319-1322.

Sorva, R., Lankinen, S., Tolppanen, E.M. & Perheentupa, J. 1990, "Variation of growth in height and weight of children. II. After infancy", Acta Paediatrica Scandinavica, vol. 79, no. 5, pp. 498-506.

Steinbuch, M., Youket, T.E. & Cohen, S. 2004, "Oral glucocorticoid use is associated with an increased risk of fracture", Osteoporosis international : a journal established as result of cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 323-328.

Strand, V. & Kavanaugh, A.F. 2004, "The role of interleukin-1 in bone resorption in rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology, vol. 43, no. Suppl 3, pp. 10-16.

Tanner, J.M. (ed) 1962, Growth at Adolecence, Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, UK.

Teegarden, D., Lyle, R.M., Proulx, W.R., Johnston, C.C. & Weaver, C.M. 1999, "Previous milk consumption is associated with greater bone density in young women", The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, vol. 69, no. 5, pp. 1014-1017.

Teitelbaum, S.L. 2000, "Bone resorption by osteoclasts", Science (New York, N.Y.), vol. 289, no. 5484, pp. 1504-1508.

Theintz, G., Buchs, B., Rizzoli, R., Slosman, D., Clavien, H., Sizonenko, P.C. & Bonjour, J.P. 1992, "Longitudinal monitoring of bone mass accumulation in healthy adolescents: evidence for a marked reduction after 16 years of age at the levels of lumbar spine and femoral neck in female subjects", The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism, vol. 75, no. 4, pp. 1060-1065.

Torikai, E., Kageyama, Y., Takahashi, M., Suzuki, M., Ichikawa, T., Nagafusa, T. & Nagano, A. 2006, "The effect of infliximab on bone metabolism markers in patients with rheumatoid arthritis", Rheumatology (Oxford, England), vol. 45, no. 6, pp. 761-764.

Trotter, M. & Hixon, B.B. 1974, "Sequential changes in weight, density, and percentage ash weight of human skeletons from an early fetal period through old age", The Anatomical Record, vol. 179, no. 1, pp. 1-18.

Turpeinen, U., Hohenthal, U. & Stenman, U-H. 2003, "Determination of 25-hydroxyvitamin D in serum by HPLC and immunoassay", Clinical Chemistry, vol 49, no. 9, pp. 1521-1524.

van Rossum, E.F. & Lamberts, S.W. 2004, "Polymorphisms in the glucocorticoid receptor gene and their associations with metabolic parameters and body composition", Recent progress in hormone research, vol. 59, pp. 333-357.

van Staa, T.P., Leufkens, H.G., Abenhaim, L., Zhang, B. & Cooper, C. 2000a, "Oral corticosteroids and fracture risk: relationship to daily and cumulative doses", Rheumatology (Oxford, England), vol. 39, no. 12, pp. 1383-1389.

van Staa, T.P., Leufkens, H.G., Abenhaim, L., Zhang, B. & Cooper, C. 2000b, "Use of oral corticosteroids and risk of fractures", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 15, no. 6, pp. 993-1000.

van Staa, T.P., Cooper, C., Leufkens, H.G. & Bishop, N. 2003a, "Children and the risk of fractures caused by oral corticosteroids", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 913-918.

van Staa, T.P., Cooper, C., Brusse, L.S., Leufkens, H., Javaid, M.K. & Arden, N.K. 2003b, "Inflammatory bowel disease and the risk of fracture", Gastroenterology, vol. 125, no. 6, pp. 1591-1597.

Varonos, S., Ansell, B.M. & Reeve, J. 1987, "Vertebral collapse in juvenile chronic arthritis: its relationship with glucocorticoid therapy", Calcified tissue international, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 75-78.

Vautour, L.M., Melton, L.J., 3rd, Clarke, B.L., Achenbach, S.J., Oberg, A.L. & McCarthy, J.T. 2004, "Long-term fracture risk following renal transplantation: a population-based study", Osteoporosis International, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 160-167.

Vidhun, J.R. & Sarwal, M.M. 2005, "Corticosteroid avoidance in pediatric renal transplantation", Pediatric Nephrology, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 418-426.

Viljakainen, H.T., Natri, A.M., Kärkkainen, M., Huttunen, M.M., Palssa, A., Jakobsen, J., Cashman, K.D., Molgaard, C. & Lamberg-Allardt, C. 2006, "A positive dose-response effect of vitamin D supplementation on site-specific bone mineral augmentation in adolescent girls: a double-blinded randomized place-bo-controlled 1-year intervention", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 21, no. 6, pp. 836-844.

Välimäki, V.V., Alfthan, H., Lehmuskallio, E., Löyttyniemi, E., Sahi, T., Stenman, U.H., Suominen, H. & Välimäki, M.J. 2004, "Vitamin D status as a determinant of peak bone mass in young Finnish men", The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism, vol. 89, no. 1, pp. 76-80. Wang, M.C., Crawford, P.B., Hudes, M., Van Loan, M., Siemering, K. & Bachrach, L.K. 2003, "Diet in midpuberty and sedentary activity in prepuberty predict peak bone mass", The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, vol. 77, no. 2, pp. 495-503.

Wang, S.J., Yang, Y.H., Lin, Y.T., Yang, C.M. & Chiang, B.L. 2002, "Attained adult height in juvenile rheumatoid arthritis with or without corticosteroid treatment", Clinical rheumatology, vol. 21, no. 5, pp. 363-368.

Weinstein, R.S., Jilka, R.L., Parfitt, A.M. & Manolagas, S.C. 1998, "Inhibition of osteoblastogenesis and promotion of apoptosis of osteoblasts and osteocytes by glucocorticoids. Potential mechanisms of their deleterious effects on bone", The Journal of clinical investigation, vol. 102, no. 2, pp. 274-282.

Weinstein, R.S., Nicholas, R.W. & Manolagas, S.C. 2000, "Apoptosis of osteocytes in glucocorticoid-induced osteonecrosis of the hip", The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism, vol. 85, no. 8, pp. 2907-2912.

Wesseling, K., Bakkaloglu, S. & Salusky, I. 2008, "Chronic kidney diasease mineral and bone disorder in children", Pediatric Nephrology, vol 23, no. 2, pp 195-207.

Wharton, B. & Bishop, N. 2003, "Rickets", Lancet, vol. 362, no. 9393, pp. 1389-1400.

WHO study group, Assessment of fracture risk and its application to screening for postmenopausal osteoporosis:report of a WHO study group .1994, , WHO, Geneva.

Young, D., Hopper, J.L., Nowson, C.A., Green, R.M., Sherwin, A.J., Kaymakci, B., Smid, M., Guest, C.S., Larkins, R.G. & Wark, J.D. 1995, "Determinants of bone mass in 10- to 26-year-old females: a twin study", Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 558-567.

Zak, M., Hassager, C., Lovell, D.J., Nielsen, S., Henderson, C.J. & Pedersen, F.K. 1999, "Assessment of bone mineral density in adults with a history of juvenile chronic arthritis: a cross-sectional long-term followup study", Arthritis and Rheumatism, vol. 42, no. 4, pp. 790-798.